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MISSION
To foster an environment of monetary stability 
conducive to economic development, and to ensure 
a stable and sound financial system through the 
highest standards of integrity and leadership.

VISION
To promote a leading financial services industry 
within the framework of dynamic monetary policy 
developments, modernized payment systems, sound 
management strategies and capacity building.
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Our commitment to fulfilling our Mission is  embodied 
in our Core Values of:
• Objectivity
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• Excellence
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• Empowerment
• Initiative
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Respectfully yours,

John A. Rolle
Governor
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Offi ce of the Prime Minister
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ABOUT THE BANK

MONETARY POLICY
In its monetary role, a central objective of the Bank is to 
ensure adequate support for the fi xed parity of the Baha-
mian dollar against the United States’ currency. To attain 
this objective, the Bank has to maintain adequate foreign 
reserves against the stock of its demand liabilities, and 
ensure that the demand for foreign exchange, stimulated 
principally by domestic credit expansion, does not exceed 
the pace at which the economy earns foreign exchange 
from real sector activities. In alignment to this goal, the 
Bank has statutory responsibility for the prudent manage-
ment of the country’s foreign currency reserves. 
The Bank’s administration of exchange controls is also 
closely linked to the fi xed exchange rate policy objective. 
Capital controls, which have undergone gradual relaxa-
tion in recent years, restrain the movement of capital by 
residents; however, there are no restrictions on current 
payments.

PUBLIC DEBT & SINKING FUND MANAGEMENT
The Bank provides front and back offi ce services to the 
Government and its agencies, in activities involving debt 
issuance and administration, and the management of 
several sinking fund arrangements.

PAYMENTS
The Bank’s involvement in the payments system is also 
integral to its overall mandate to promote the stability 
of, and confi dence in the fi nancial system. In carrying 
out its oversight function, the Bank seeks to ensure, inter
alia, that the payments infrastructure functions smoothly, 
effi ciently and fairly in the interest of all participants and 
users; that it minimizes and controls risks; and that the 
level of product innovation and development is adequate 
for the needs of the economy.

CURRENCY
The Bank meets the currency needs of the public, by 
arranging for the procurement, storage and issuance of 
Bahamian banknotes and coins, as well as maintaining 
the quality of currency in circulation. Banknotes deemed 
as unfi t are withdrawn from circulation and replaced.

FINANCIAL STABILITY
Prudential oversight of regulated entities, is a critical 
part of the infrastructure to maintain high standards of 
service, conduct and management in the banking sector. 
A combination of off-site examinations, on-site inspec-
tions, and market intelligence, informs the risk-based 
assessments that are used to monitor the soundness of 
licensees. Stress testing is undertaken to gauge resilience 
to key economic and fi nancial shocks.

Under the Central Bank of The Bahamas Act, 2000 (the Act), the Bank is mandated to promote and maintain monetary 
stability and balance of payments conditions, conducive to the orderly development of the economy; in collaboration 
with other fi nancial institutions, to promote and maintain adequate banking services and high standards of conduct and 
management therein; and to advise the Minister of Finance on any matter of a fi nancial or monetary nature referred by 
[the Minister] to the Bank for its advice.
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FOREWORD

The year 2017 could be characterized as one of 
quiet optimism, as the results from the expanded 
tourism infrastructure in New Providence started 

to take hold. Still challenges remained, amid the weath-
er-related loss of hotel capacity in Grand Bahama, and 
temporary disruptions to travel itineraries during the 
hurricane season. 
Overall, the performance of the domestic economy was 
mildly positive in 2017, supported mainly by foreign 
investment-led construction activity, and continued re-
building following the passage of Hurricane Matthew in 
2016. Monetary and credit trends were dominated by the 
receipt of proceeds from the Government’s $750 million 
external bond issue in November. This contributed to ro-
bust growth in both external reserves and bank liquidity. 
Credit to the private sector remained subdued, as con-
sumers continued to deleverage, while banks sustained 
their efforts to address the high, although declining, 
levels of non-performing loans (NPLs) in their portfolios, 
through a combination of asset sales, debt consolidation 
programmes and loan write-offs. 
The fiscal deficit widened in FY2016/17, due to hurricane 
and election-year related expenditures; however, it de-
creased over the first six months of FY2017/18. This was 
mainly attributed to the reduction in capital expenditure. 
With external borrowings leading to an improvement in 
the foreign reserve indicators and given the positive im-
petus to the economy from the increase in high-end hotel 
capacity, the Central Bank’s Monetary Policy Committee 
(MPC) maintained its accommodative stance, allowing 
the adjustment impact of the end-2016 interest rate easing 
to take hold. The MPC therefore focused on reviewing 
and recommending further exchange control liberalisa-
tion measures. Placed within the context of maintaining 
the fixed exchange rate regime, the series of initiatives 
included proposals to expand the delegation limits of the 
commercial banks for certain current account transac-
tions, as well as the creation of facilities to allow local 
businesses to secure foreign currency financing for their 
operations. The Committee also proposed reforms to a 
number of existing capital account facilities, including 

the Investment Currency Market (ICM) and foreign 
currency accounts. These full set of amendments to the 
capital account regime took effect in early 2018. 
Progress was also made on the Bank’s enhanced an-
ti-money laundering (AML)/counter financing of ter-
rorism (CFT) supervision initiatives, to address gaps 
identified in the Caribbean Financial Action Task Force’s 
(CFATF) Mutual Evaluation Report for The Bahamas. 
As a key element of the reforms, the Central Bank estab-
lished an Analytics Unit (AU) within the Bank Supervi-
sion Department, to focus on AML/CFT data analytics, 
and established frameworks for continuous oversight of 
AML/CFT systems within supervised financial institu-
tions (SFIs). In the area of risk assessment, the Bank also 
refined its risk-based supervisory framework, to target 
specific high-risk firms though a process called “ever-
greening”. 
During the year, critical enhancements were also made to 
the Bank’s Information Technology (IT) infrastructure, 
to mitigate against the emerging cyber-security risks, 
while considerable progress was made in the Bank’s 
efforts to improve the administration of the public sector 
debt market, which will eventually include the establish-
ment of a Centralised Securities Depository (CSD) for 
Government debt. On the legislative front, the release of 
the Payment Instruments (Oversight) Regulations, 2017, 
and corresponding General Information and Application 
Guidelines for Providers of Electronic Retail Payments 
Instruments and Electronic Money Products, cleared the 
way for the licensing of various entities offering mobile 
and other electronic payment solutions. 
The Bank’s strategic objective could not have been 
realized without the continued hard work and dedication 
of our staff. I therefore wish to thank my colleagues for 
their cooperation and support, and look forward to their 
ongoing commitment in the future.

John A. Rolle
Governor
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR OFFICIALS 
At December 31, 2017

DIRECTORS
Pictured from left: Mr. Thomas Dean, Mr. L. Edgar Moxey, Mr. John A. Rolle, Chairman, Mr. Robert Adams and 

Mr. Derek Rolle, Deputy Governor.

SENIOR OFFICIALS
Pictured standing from left: 
Mr. Errol L. Bodie, Manager, 
Information Technology; Ms. 
Deborah Ferguson, Manager, 
Human Resources; Mr. Keith T. 
Jones, Manager, Accounts; Mr. 

Alwyn Jordan, Manager, Research; 
Mr. Ian B. Fernander, Manager, 
Administration; Mr. Charles Littrell, 
Inspector, Banking Supervision; Ms. 
Karen Rolle, Manager, Banking 
Supervision; Mr. John Ferguson, 
Chief Security Offi cer. Seated 
from left: Mrs. Cleopatra Davis, 

Manager, Internal Audit; Mr. Derek 
Rolle, Deputy Governor; Mr. John 
A. Rolle, Governor; Ms. Rochelle 
A. Deleveaux, Legal Counsel & 
Board Secretary. Inset: Mrs. Tamieka 
V. Watson, Manager, Exchange 
Control.
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2017 AT A GLANCE

 The domestic economy registered further growth of an estimated 1.3%1 in 
2017, following a slight 0.2% gain in the prior year, supported by steady gains 
in the construction sector, which benefi tted from several varied-scale foreign 
investment-led projects and post-hurricane rebuilding activity.

 Average consumer prices rose by 1.5% during the year, a turnaround from a 
0.4% decrease recorded in 2016, refl ecting in part an increase in global fuel 
costs.

 Employment conditions improved, as the jobless rate narrowed to 10.1% in 
November 2017, from 11.6% in the prior year.

The fi scal defi cit to GDP ratio increased to an estimated 5.8% in FY2016/2017, 
from 2.8% in FY2015/2016, as capital outlays buoyed the growth in total 
expenditure, outstripping the gain in aggregate revenue. 

At end-December, the Direct Charge to GDP ratio stood at an estimated 
61.7%, an increase of 5.6 percentage points over 2016. In addition, the Nation-
al Debt to GDP ratio rose by 5.2 percentage points to 67.8%.

 External reserves grew by $513.4 million to $1,417.4 million at end-December 
2017, with the import cover ratio fi rming to 23.0 weeks of “current year’s” 
imports, versus 16.5 weeks in 2016.

In April, the Central Bank implemented further exchange control liberalisa-
tion measures, to allow certain types of businesses to obtain foreign currency 
fi nancing. 

 The Bank began to strengthen its AML/CFT framework, by progressing 
towards continuous oversight of AML/CFT systems in supervised fi nancial 
institutions (SFIs) and the creation of an AML/CFT Analytics Unit in the Bank 
Supervision Department. 

1 IMF forecast. 
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IMPROVE THE MONETARY POLICY FRAMEWORK 

• Sustain the development of the macro-eco-
nomic forecasting framework, to include 
scenario analysis.  

• Improve analysis in Financial Stability report 
to focus on emerging risks.

• Complete the implementation of the Bal-
ance of Payments BPM6 framework and 
develop International Investment Position 
(IIP) Accounts. 

• Further expand the range of economic indi-
cators collected, to improve the comprehen-
siveness of economic reports and enhance 
policy analysis.  

• Support efforts to strengthen co-ordina-
tion of fi scal and monetary policy, with 
the introduction of a Fiscal Policy Advisory 
report.  

STRENGTHEN THE SUPERVISORY AND 
REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

• Continue with the implementation of the 
Basel II & III risk-based frameworks and fully 
integrate evergreening reviews into the su-
pervisory regime.  

• Sustained effort to create a credit bureau 
and fully implement the appropriate supervi-
sory regime.  

• Further enhance the AML/CFT supervisory 
regime.  

• Introduce regulatory and other neces-
sary reforms, in order to mitigate risks from 
challenges related to access to interna-
tional correspondent banking relationships 
(CBRs).  

• Implement an effective licensing and super-
visory regime for non-bank retail payment 
providers.

 Complete the implementation of the Bal
ance of Payments BPM6 framework and
develop International Investment Position 
(IIP) Accounts. 

• Further expand the range of eeconconnomiomic ic i dndi-
cators collected, to improvrovvee te thehe commpreprehenhenen-
siveness of economicic rereprepoorts aandnd eenhenhaance 
policy analysis.  

• Support effforortorts ts to sstretreengngthen cococo-or-orddina-a
tion of fiscsccalal andand mmonetaryaryry popolicy,y, witwitwithh
the introtrooduductiotionn of a FiFisscascall Polioliccy cy AAdvisoory ry y 
reportortrt..

STRENGGTTHTHEEN TTHEHE SUPUPPERERVIVISSOSORY AAANNDND 
REGULALAATTORYRYY FFRAAMMEMEWOWOORKRK

•• Coontntinuee wwithh tththe immmpleplemmementattatationion oofof tthe 
BaBasasel II && I& III risriskk-basasesed fd framrameewoworkrksks and fully 
inintntegraatete evevveergrereeeeninninng rg reveviviewewsws into the su-
ppervissoory rreegimmee.e  

•• Sustataaineinedd effofoort rt ttoo crecreeateatee a credit bureau 
anddd fufullllyy impplplemmenmentt tt thehe e appropriate supervi-
sorry y regegigimee.  

• Fuurtrtheerr enhhhancance ttthe he AAML/CFT supervisory 
reegegimemee. 

• Inntrtrodduuce e rregeguulatttoryoryy and other neces-
saarary ry reeeformmsms, iinn orrderder to mitigate risks from 
chchahalleengenges s relelaatededd totoo access to interna-
tiooonalnal ccoc rreeespospoondedeentnt banb king relationships 
(CBCBBRs)Rs).

•• Imppleplememeent aan en effefef ctctitive ve licl ensing and super-
visv oryryy reegimgimg e fe fforor nononn -b-babanknk n retail payment
pprovididdersers..

ENHANCE OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY 
AND GOVERNANCE 

• Progress with plans to secure new premises 
for the Bank’s main operations and a suitable 
location for the currency operations centre.

• Fully implement the public debt manage-
ment framework, by completing the dema-
terialisation of Government securities and 
creating a central securities depository. 

• Accelerate the modernisation of payments 
operations, by initiating plans for the digiti-
sation of the domestic currency, while also 
leveraging new technologies, to inter alia, 
improve the security of electronic transac-
tions.

• Continue to develop the staff performance 
management and compensation system, in 
order to ensure adequate capacity building 
and succession planning. 

• Strengthen the Business Continuity Plan 
(BCP), through training exercises; and com-
plete arrangements for secondary facilities 
for business continuity. 

• Continue the modernisation of the IT environ-
ment 

IMPLEMENT AN EFFECTIVE EXTERNAL RELATIONS 
AND COMMUNICATIONS FRAMEWORK

• Develop a new website to provide more 
comprehensive information to the public 
and to simplify the process of navigating 
through the site. 

• Continue to roll-out the fi nancial literacy 
campaign, by conducting a series of out-
reach and educational programmes. 

• Sustain efforts to promote fi nancial inclusion, 
by, inter alia, reducing the regulatory burden 
to obtain bank accounts and leveraging 
appropriate fi nancial technology (FinTech).

STRATEGIC FOCUS FOR 2018 
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OUR OPERATIONS OOOOUUUR OPERATIONNNNSSSS 

GOVERNANCE & 
ACCOUNTABILITY

The Bank’s corporate governance framework, as outlined 
in the Central Bank of The Bahamas Act, 2000 (the Act), 
prescribes, inter alia, the roles and responsibilities of 
the Board of Directors, the Governor and the Deputy 
Governor.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for 
policy and oversight of the Bank’s management and 
operations, including strategic planning, fi nancial and 
accounting practices and procedures, risk management 
and succession planning.
Appointed by the Governor General, on the advice of 
the Minister of Finance, the Board is comprised of the 
Governor (Chair) and four independent directors. There 
is statutory provision for the appointment of two Dep-
uty Governors, who may attend Board meetings. The 
Deputy Governor is only eligible to vote in cases where 
the Governor is absent and the Deputy Governor acts as 
Chairman.
As required under the Act, each Director must sign a dec-
laration of secrecy in relation to the affairs of the Bank, 
and is indemnifi ed by the Bank against personal, civil or 
criminal liability, in respect of their actions done in good 
faith while carrying out their statutory duties. 
During 2017, the Bank welcomed new Directors Mr. 
Robert Adams and Mr. Thomas Dean, whose appoint-
ments took effect from 1st July, 2017. Mr. L. Edgar Mox-
ey was also reappointed to the Board with effect from 1st

July 2017. During the year, the Bank also bade farewell 
to former Directors Archdeacon James Palacious, Mr. 
Donald Demeritte and Mr. Mario Gray, whose tenures 
came to an end on 30th June, 2017. The Bank is grateful 
to each former Director for their valuable contributions to 
the deliberations of the Board. 
With effect from 1st September, 2017, Mr. Derek Rolle, 
a twenty-eight year veteran of the Bank and former 
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Manager of the Banking Department, was appointed as 
Deputy Governor. Mr. Rolle succeeded Mr. Michael 
Lightbourne, whose tenure as Deputy Governor ended 
on 30th June, 2017. The Bank congratulates Mr. Rolle on 
his appointment and wishes to express its gratitude to Mr. 
Lightbourne for his ten years of service in this role.
For meetings, three Directors form a quorum, and in 
2017, the Board met on ten occasions. In addition to 
matters of internal operation and governance, the Board’s 
agenda included discussions on domestic and internation-
al economic and fi nancial conditions, their implications 
for the external reserves, the Bank’s fi ve-year Strategic 
Plan, withdrawal of correspondent banking relationships 
(CBRs), measures to enhance the supervisory oversight 
of the AML/CFT regime, and the status of proposed 
legislative amendments impacting the Bank’s operations. 
Deliberations were facilitated by various management 
briefs and reports.

ACCOUNTABILITY & TRANSPARENCY
The Bank is mandated by statute and best business prac-
tices, to ensure a high degree of transparency, which fa-
cilitates accountability. In compliance with these respon-
sibilities, the Bank furnished the Minister of Finance with 
a report of its activities for 2017, which was subsequently 
laid before Parliament. Monthly balance sheet informa-
tion was also provided to the Minister and published in 
the Government’s Offi cial Gazette.
During the year, the Governor met almost monthly with 
the Minister of Finance, and provided the Minister with 
special periodic communications, both written and ver-
bal, on industry related matters, as they emerged. These 
meetings help to facilitate and maintain coordination 
between monetary and fi scal policy, and also provide 
an opportunity to keep the Government informed of the 
Bank’s performance in meeting its statutory obligations. 
Information on domestic economic and fi nancial devel-
opments was published in the Bank’s Monthly Economic 
and Financial Development (MEFD) reports, Quarterly 
Economic Reviews (QER) and Quarterly Statistical 
Digests (QSD). These publications, along with other 
announcements, notices and press releases, were made 
available to the public on the Bank’s website1.
During the year, the Governor and other senior offi cers 
of the Bank also gave offi cial speeches on various topics, 
including: domestic economic conditions and prospects, 
developments in the regulatory and supervisory space, 
exchange control liberalisation, and updates on the 
Bank’s strategic projects.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The assessment, control and minimization of risks, are 
pivotal to the Bank’s governance processes, and in this 
regard, the Internal Audit and Information Security units 
play key roles in these operations. 

Internal Audit
Internal Audit (IA) supports both the Audit Committee 
of the Board of Directors and Management, evaluating 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank’s system of 
internal controls, risk management and governance pro-
cesses. The operations of IA are guided by a Board-ap-
proved Internal Audit Charter and risk-driven Audit Plan, 
with a focus on assisting the Bank in the achievement of 
its strategic goals. To maintain independence, the Head 
of IA reports functionally to the Audit Committee and 
administratively to the Governor. 
As part of its 2017 work programme, the IA Unit com-
pleted and issued eight internal audit reports, which 
focused on strengthening several of the Bank’s critical 
processes. The Unit examined the Bank’s fi nancial 
operations, payment systems, purchasing & procurement 
procedures, contract management and project manage-
ment processes, with the core focus on enhancing exist-
ing controls and improving operational effi ciency. The 
effectiveness with which Departments discharge their 
core duties was also evaluated, including, but not limited 
to, the risk-based supervision process and examinations, 
exchange control administration, research & statistics, 
human resources, surveillance and physical access. The 
IA Unit also supported various working committees of 
the Bank, aimed at fostering a stronger internal control 
and compliance environment.

Information Security
During the year, the Information Security (IS) Unit 
continued to focus on developing frameworks for the 
security and governance of the Bank’s information 
management systems. In 2017, considerable improve-
ment was made to the Bank’s vulnerability management 
process, with the upgrade and implementation of soft-
ware, to holistically monitor the Bank’s information 
assets. In addition, the Bank made signifi cant progress 
with the implementation of its Security Information 
Events Management (SIEM) systems, which enhanced its 
real-time analysis of security alerts and security incident 
management.
During 2017, the Bank also strengthened its security 
posture with the continued development of the informa-
tion security strategic plan. This comprehensive policy 
review and process development plan, maps business 
objectives to security, management support, security 

1 www.centralbankbahamas.com
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goals, and responsibilities. The established strategic plan 
helps to adequately protect the confi dentiality, integrity, 
and availability of information, through policy develop-
ment and process maturity, using international standards 
like the ISO 27001/2 and NIST 800-53 Cybersecurity 
frameworks.
In line with industry best practices, the Bank continues to 
perform annual security assessments to prioritise cor-
rective responses to security risks and control gaps. The 
2017 assessment included a network penetration test and 
a gap assessment of internal policies and systems. 
In the area of information security awareness, the Bank 
hosted its fourth annual Information Security Aware-
ness Month and Fair in June. The Fair featured both 
local and international exhibitors and speakers. Further, 
the Bank instituted the digital security awareness plat-
form to enhance awareness training, through e-learning 
and phishing campaigns. The main goal of the exercise 
was to create a culture of conscious security practices 
among staff.

BANKING OPERATIONS

Currency Operations
The Bank is the sole issuer of banknotes and coins for 
The Bahamas, maintaining fi ve active circulation coin 
denominations, ranging from 1¢ to 25¢ and eight active 
circulation banknote denominations, ranging from $½ 
to $100 (See: Table 1). The banknote family was en-
hanced in 2017, with the launch of the CRISP Evolution 
(CE) $1 banknote, the second in the CRISP Evolution 
family of notes and the fi rst in Bahamian history to be 
printed using a substrate other than cotton—namely 
the Giesecke & Devrient’s (G+D) durability enhanc-
ing substrate Hybrid™. The material was selected for 
its resistance to soiling, which is expected to reduce 
the long-run costs associated with frequent banknote 
replacement. The note itself bears on the front, a portrait 
of Sir Lynden O. Pindling, the fi rst Prime Minister of 
the Commonwealth of The Bahamas. The back of the 
note carries a vignette of the Royal Bahamas Police 
Force Marching Band, which symbolically provided 
entertainment at the historic unveiling ceremony of 
this note on 27th September, 2017, at the Sir Lynden O. 
Pindling International Airport. 
Updated versions of the $½ and $3 banknotes, last rede-
signed in 2001 and 1984, respectively, have been sched-
uled for release in mid-2018 and 2019, under the CRISP 
Evolution family. The CE$20 is earmarked for launch in 
September 2018, followed by annual releases of the re-
maining denominations in the month of September, until 
2021–when the new family will be completed. A contract 
to produce the 15¢ piece, the fi nal one in the family of 
circulation coins to be modernized, was awarded to the 
Royal Mint, England, and is scheduled for release in the 
third quarter of 2018. This coin will feature an updated 
image of the hibiscus fl ower on its front, with the Coat 
of Arms of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas on the 
obverse.

 Table 1: Bank Note Security Tiers

 DENOMINATION PUBLIC CONSUMPTION

 $1/2 
Novelty

 $3 

 $1 
Low Value

 $5 

 $10 
Transactional

 $20 

 $50 
Value Storage

 $100

Source: Central Bank of The Bahamas 
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The $1 note and 1¢ coin represented the largest volume 
of banknotes and coins in circulation, respectively, with 
demand increasing annually. The 25¢ coin and $100 
note account for the largest concentrated value of coins 
and banknotes in circulation, respectively, with demand 
showing modest increases over the years. The graphs out-
line the movement in the volume and value of Bahamas 
notes and coins over the last fi ve years.
The Bank remained vigilant against circulation of coun-
terfeit Bahamian dollar currency, and strengthened its 
overall anti-counterfeit initiatives to incorporate a more 
targeted focus on counterfeit detection training for law 
enforcement, bankers, merchants, and the public. In early 
2017, the Bank detected a slight uptick in counterfeits 
of the CE$10 banknote, which was launched in 2016. 
However, these were of noticeably poor quality, posing 
no real threat to overall banknote integrity. Forgeries 
of the Series 2000 $100 note were noticed in late 2017, 
prompting the Bank to initiate its standard anti-counter-
feit protocols. 
For each newly designed banknote, the Bank improves 
the overall aesthetics of the note, and integrates some of 
the latest technological advancements available in the 
market. This initiative helps to make counterfeiting at-
tempts more challenging, while presenting notes that are 
attractive, easily identifi able and secure.
During the year, the Bank continued its public aware-
ness and education initiatives, by facilitating counterfeit 
detection workshops in Nassau in March and in Grand 
Bahama in November. There was also a commitment to 
facilitate special targeted sessions for designated groups 
in the fi rst few months of 2018. To provide additional 
technological support in distinguishing genuine bank-
notes from their counterfeit counterparts, the Bank is 
currently developing a banknote mobile app, which will 
be released in the fi rst half of 2018. The app should help 
users to identify genuine banknotes and will complement 
the targeted counterfeit training initiatives and banknote 

virtual tour applications, that have already been deployed 
by the Bank.
Efforts to expand the numismatic programme were sus-
tained in 2017, with the release of the Exuma and Bimini 
$10 Silver Proof Coins—the third and fourth coins in the 
Islands of The Bahamas fi ve coin series; these coins were 
produced in fi ne silver and each has a limited worldwide 
mintage of 500 pieces. Inagua, which is the fi nal coin in 
the series, was produced with similar specifi cations and 
mintage quantities, and is scheduled for release during the 
fi rst quarter of 2018.
In late 2017, the Royal Mint, England, was engaged to 
produce a $250 gold proof coin, with a limited worldwide 
mintage of 100 pieces. Slated to be the fi rst gold coin 
minted in over a decade, it will be produced in 99.99% 
fi ne gold, bearing a modern image of a blue marlin on 
its front. The Royal Mint also produced two $10 silver 
proof coins to commemorate the silver and bronze medal 
achievements of Mrs. Shaunae Miller-Uibo and the 
Bahamas’ Men’s 4x100 metre relay team, respectively, 
at the Rio De Janeiro Games in 2016. These coins, which 
have a limited mintage of 1,000 pieces, form a part of 
the Bank’s numismatic strategy to commemorate the 
achievements of Bahamian athletes at world recognized 
athletic events, and are scheduled for release in 2018. 

Public Debt Administration (Domestic)
The Bank continues to serve as Registrar and Transfer 
Agent for the majority of Government and public corpo-
rations’ securities. During 2017, there was minimal ac-
tivity related to agency securities, with the exception of a 
$3.0 million maturity of the Bahamas Development Bank 
bonds, reducing the outstanding balance of these bonds 
to $43.0 million. The remaining agencies with constant 
bond liabilities included: the Bridge Authority ($29.0 
million), Clifton Heritage Authority ($24.0 million), and 
the Education Loan Authority ($67.0 million). 
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The Bank’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC), is chaired by the Governor and comprises several Heads of Departments and other techni-
cians. The main objective of the Committee is to advise and assist the Governor in the formulation of policy interventions to promote mone-
tary and fi nancial stability, while maintaining the fi xed exchange rate regime. The monthly surveillance analysis of the MPC is summarized in 
reports, which are published within fi ve days of each meeting.

During 2017, the MPC met monthly to deliberate on developments in the international and domestic environment. The Committee’s discus-
sions were framed by several key domestic economic and fi nancial trends, a number of which have been continuing themes over the past 
decade. Specifi cally:

• Construction activity, driven by several 
varied-scale foreign investment projects, 
including Baha Mar. 

• The impact of hurricanes Irma and Harvey 
on the US and the region, which caused 
disruptions to travel itineraries and airport 
closures, thus constraining tourism sector 
output. 

• The phased introduction of new hotel ca-
pacity in New Providence, which contrib-
uted to the decline in the unemployment 
rate. 

• Further liberalization of the exchange con-
trol regime, to allow for greater fl exibility 
by the banks in approving current account 
transactions and the removal of capital 
controls on certain outward private sector 
investments, as well as external fi nancing 
for specifi c types of companies. 

• Trends in commercial banks’ credit qual-
ity, including the continuing reduction in 
non-performing assets, due to: restruc-
turing, asset sales and more aggressive 
collection policies, and the undercurrent of 
improving economic conditions. 

• Trends in external reserves, which during 
2017, included a large infl uence from the 
Government’s $750 million external bond 
issue and modest support from net private 
sector infl ows.

In assessing the external risks to the do-
mestic economy, the Committee identifi ed 
several important themes. In terms of the 
upside, there was sustained growth in 
the United States’ economy, with positive 
long-term implications for domestic tourism 
output. However, members also noted that 
policy uncertainty and geopolitical tensions 
could adversely impact market confi dence, 
with negative repercussions for the global 
growth outlook. Another downside risk was 
the potential for a rapid increase in the 
pace of monetary policy normalization (or 
interest rate increases) in the United States, 
to adversely impact vulnerable economies. 
The MPC also took into consideration de-
velopments in the global oil market, as the 
high level of output–especially from the US 

BOX 1: MONETARY POLICY IN 2017

shale gas producers–curtailed the growth in 
crude oil prices. 

During the year, the Committee sustained its 
strict monitoring of its key external reserve 
adequacy indicators, relative to base money 
and imports. On a seasonal basis, the ratio 
of reserves to base money rose over the fi rst 
fi ve months of the year; although it remained 
below the 90% to 100% target range. By the 
end of May, the indicator had risen to 76.3% 
and averaged 73.3% over the fi ve-month 
period. The coverage then trended down, 
registering its lowest rate of 66.9% in June. 
However, following the Government’s $750.0 
million external bond issue in November, the 
ratio advanced to 97.8% at end-2017—ex-
ceeding the 70.0% closing estimate in the 
prior year. 

In terms of the more broadly tracked external 
reserve coverage in weeks of annual current 
year’s merchandise imports indicator, the ratio 
narrowed from 16.5 weeks at end-2016, to 
16.0 weeks in the fi rst quarter and fell further 
to 15.7 weeks in the subsequent three-month 
period. However, it fi rmed slightly to 17.0 weeks 
in the third quarter, before Government external 
borrowing led to a strengthening in the indicator 
to 23.0 weeks of imports at the end of the year.

The MPC also maintained its focus on 
bank soundness and stability indicators. In 
particular, members noted that bank liquidity 
remained at high levels, underpinned by 

Government’s external borrowings and 
commercial banks’ lending restraint, while 
banks’ average capital levels remained well 
in excess of the regulatory target and trigger 
ratios of 17.0% and 14.0%, respectively. 
The improvement in credit quality over the 
year was driven by the large decrease in 
non-performing loans (NPLs), following the 
sale of one entity’s delinquent mortgages to 
the Government entity Resolve Corporation, 
along with banks’ on-going loan restructur-
ing and enhanced collection efforts. 

The Committee’s deliberations also result-
ed in new proposals for a further series of 
exchange control liberalization measures, 
targeting a range of current account transac-
tions and specifi c capital controls on exter-
nal private sector funding and investments 
by domestic fi rms abroad (See: Box 2). The 
Bank however, noted the signifi cant instabili-
ty risk from ill-timed liberalisation measures, 
given the potential for capital fl ight that could 
be sustained from the high commercial 
bank liquidity overhang, and insuffi ciently 
entrenched path for fi scal consolidation.

Given the mild domestic economic activity, 
subdued credit demand, high liquidity and 
robust levels of external reserves, the MPC 
determined that the Bank would leave its 
accommodative policy stance unchanged 
throughout the year.
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Both the primary and secondary markets for Bahamas 
Registered Stock (BRS) were active, with  BRS matur-
ities amounting to $257.0 million. Given the fi nancing 
of these and other Government funding needs, the Bank 
facilitated eight Initial Public Offerings (IPOs), totalling 
$457.0 million and two Treasury bill (T-bill) swaps into 
bonds totalling $150.0 million. At year-end, the outstand-
ing BRS amounted to $3.2 billion. The Bank also facil-
itated three secondary market offerings, totalling $38.5 
million from its own portfolio, and expects to conduct 
further offerings in 2018 and beyond.
The Treasury bill market was also active, with short-term 
Government liabilities beginning the year at $585.0 mil-
lion and closing at $445.0 million. This change refl ects an 
additional $234.0 million in new bill taps, $224.0 million 
in rollovers and the reduction of $150.0 million via swaps 
into BRS. The yield for 91-day T-bills closed at 1.7904%, 
up 44 basis points over the same period last year. 
In an effort to assist with enhancing the existing debt 
management framework, the Bank, in consultation with 
the Government, invited the Commonwealth Secretariat 
to review the Government’s domestic debt management 
regime. Results of that review targeted several key areas 
for reform, which the Bank has moved to address, in 
coordination with the Ministry of Finance. A critical 
foreseen reform, is the passage of a Public Debt Man-
agement Act, to provide the legislative framework for 
effi cient public debt management. The Act would also 
promote effi ciencies related to dematerialization, debt 
management strategies and the oversight of public enter-
prises’ debt operations. As an important component of 
the enhanced public debt management regime, in ac-
cordance with international best practices, the Bank is on 
course to implement a Centralized Securities Depository 
(CSD) to assist with managing Government securities’ 
operations, and promote improved monitoring, oversight 

and transparency. The Bank has already made signifi cant 
progress towards the development of its CSD and expects 
that it will be ready for deployment during the fourth 
quarter of 2018.
The Bank also made noteworthy progress towards the 
modernization and improvement of its T-bill auction 
process. These enhancements, which are scheduled for 
deployment in 2018, are expected to improve the over-
all effi ciency of this process and promote more timely 
reporting, consistent with international best practices.

FOREIGN RESERVES MANAGEMENT
External reserves increased by 56.8%, to close the year at 
$1.4 billion, due mostly to net proceeds from the Govern-
ment’s foreign borrowing; although the private sector’s 
net infl ow contribution was also positive, relative to net 
foreign currency purchases from commercial banks. 
The liquidity tranche comprised a fair proportion of the 
overall portfolio, accounting for 48.7% of the external 
balances. In this regard, the Bank was able to benefi t 
from improvements in overnight rates on high-value 
deposits, due in part to amendments to its investment 
strategies and the fi rming interest rate environment for 
US dollar deposits. 
The Investment Committee (IC) continued to maintain 
responsibility for the long and short-term investment 
strategies of the Bank, in accordance with the statutory 
provisions for the reserves allocation and the Bank’s 
Investment Policy and Guidelines. The Committee 
meets weekly to discuss and determine the most suitable 
investment options, that maintain an appropriate liquidity 
balance, to cover any unexpected outfl ows and provide 
the best risk/return profi le for targeted investments in US 
Government debt and other approved asset classes. 

DORMANT ACCOUNTS ADMINISTRATION
The Bank continues to operate as administrator and cus-
todian of the Dormant Deposits in Bahamas based banks 
and trust companies, as part of its mandate under Section 
20 of The Banks and Trust Companies Regulation Act 
(BTCRA), 2000. During the review year, the Bank sus-
tained its efforts to complete the modernization frame-
work, proposing draft legislation to the Government to 
amend the existing BTCRA. The reforms would extend 
custodial protection to new asset classes (including 
securities and precious metals), and transfer unclaimed 
assets exceeding a certain amount, to the Government 
after a period of ten years in the Dormant Accounts Fund. 
The Bank is also exploring technology upgrades and 
administrative reforms to facilitate easier queries of the 
dormant accounts’ register by the public. At end-2017, 
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During the year, the Central Bank continued 
its relaxation of exchange control measures, 
in line with its objective to promote econom-
ic dynamism through sustainable fi nancial 
fl ows, while safeguarding the fi xed ex-
change rate regime. Policy changes always 
involve prior consultation with the Govern-
ment, through the Minister of Finance. 

Measures Effective 1st April 2017

In April 2017, the Bank implemented further 
liberalisation measures, which affected 
mainly capital account transactions. These 
granted Bahamian business and resi-
dent designated entities access to foreign 
currency fi nancing, in most instances of up 
to $5.0 million per entity, every 5 years1, 
subject to the following conditions:

• In the case of fi nancing from a domestic 
commercial bank, no further conditions.

• In the case of a sector or activity reserved 
exclusively for Bahamians, fi nancing 
from non-residents through secured debt 
or through equity participation, must not 
exceed 40% of the exposed equity2.

• In the case of any unsecured fi nancing 
from non-resident sources, no other 
conditions.

Funding from the private sector credit win-
dow of multilateral agencies (such as the 
World Bank and the Inter-American Develop-
ment Bank), is not subject to a prior limit.

Importantly, these enterprises must be 
in specifi ed sectors deemed as having a 
favourable impact on net foreign exchange 
earnings or medium to long-term national 
development goals. The sectors include:

• Agriculture & fi sheries 

• Manufacturing, transport (land, air and 
sea) 

• Tourism (hotels & restaurants) 

• Construction & real estate for residential 
tourism 

• Energy & energy conservation 

• Education

• Health 

• Telecommunications & ICT 

• Infrastructure 

1  Applications for loans in excess of $5.0 million need to be made to the Central Bank.

2  If the equity exposure exceeds this threshold, then the National Economic Council’s (NEC) approval would fi rst be necessary. 

Measures Effective 1st February 2018

During the latter half of 2017, the Bank 
engaged in discussions with both the 
Government and the private sector, to 
explore further avenues for the liberalization 
of current and capital account transactions. 
As a result of the deliberations, a series of 
measures were introduced which covered 
current and capital account transactions, to 
take effect on 1st February 2018. A summary 
of the measures is as follows:

Current Account Transactions

• For either trade-related payments or cur-
rent account transactions, the delegated 
approval limits have been increased for 
the bulk of foreign exchange sales made 
directly by commercial banks and money 
transmission businesses (MTBs). 

• Limits on travel-related expenses were 
increased from $10,000 to $15,000 
per individual, per travel, while the limit 
for commercial imports of goods and 
services was expanded from $0.5 million 
to $1.0 million per transaction. However, 
for larger import payments, businesses 
still have to apply to the Central Bank for 
approval. 

• Approval limits for sundry payments for 
services were increased from $25,000 
per transaction to the actual amount on 
bill, and for merchandise trade, approv-
als against invoices and documented 
obligations were raised across the board 
to $1.0 million from $0.5 million.

• The caps on credit limits and external 
payments on Bahamian dollar corporate 
credit cards issued to companies desig-
nated as residents for exchange control 
purposes were removed. 

Capital Account Transactions

• The premiums on foreign currency pur-
chases and sales through the Investment 
Currency Market (ICM) were reduced 
to 5.0% and 2.5%, respectively, from 
12.5% and 10.0%. 

• Licensed businesses operating inside 
The Bahamas no longer require permis-
sion from the Central Bank to establish 
and maintain operating foreign currency 
deposit accounts of up to $100,000 at 
domestic commercial banks to facili-
tate payments for trade. However, only 
revenues earned in foreign currency may 
be retained on the account; and approval 
is still required to maintain higher deposit 
balances. 

• Bahamians may fund residential purchas-
es abroad of up to $0.5 million at the 
offi cial exchange rate instead of having to 
pay with investment currency. 

• Upon application to the Central Bank, 
residents may be allowed to either retain 
foreign currency denominated depos-
its or investment assets currently held 
outside The Bahamas, or to repatriate the 
facilities to The Bahamas and maintain 
such in foreign currency. No penalties will 
be imposed on regularized accounts. The 
owners of regularised facilities will be al-
lowed to use the resources to fi nance do-
mestic transactions, without restrictions, 
but prohibitions will exist against either 
funding or augmenting these facilities, 
with proceeds converted from Bahamian 
dollars.

• Temporary residents who have resided 
and worked in The Bahamas for at least 
three years, will be allowed to fi nance 
owner-occupied property of up to $1.0 
million.

These measures are expected to foster the 
development of a more dynamic and less 
restrictive exchange control regime, while 
maintaining safeguards to ensure the stabili-
ty of the fi xed exchange rate. 

BOX 2: RECENT EXCHANGE CONTROL 
LIBERALIZATION MEASURES
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a total of 41,508 facilities had been transferred to the 
Bank’s custody, accounting for an estimated $80.9 mil-
lion in unclaimed funds. The corresponding year-on-year 
balances for these facilities are outlined in Table 2, and 
would have been affected by claims on account balanc-
es, dormant submissions and movements in the relative 
exchange rates. 

EXCHANGE CONTROL ARRANGEMENTS
During 2017, the Exchange Control Department (ECD) 
continued to carry out its legislative mandate of monitor-
ing public demand for foreign exchange, while servicing 
their approval needs and ensuring the prudent manage-
ment of external reserves. Throughout the year, the De-
partment received approximately 24,000 correspondences 
for processing, compared to 20,000 in the prior period. 
In keeping with its commitment to the gradual liberali-
zation of exchange controls, the Central Bank, in its role 
as Controller of the Exchange and after consultation with 
the Government, effected several adjustments to the ex-
change control administration regime, which took effect 
on April 1, 2017 (See: Box 2). 
Overall, the measures are expected to result in improved 
effi ciencies for permanent residents, as well as temporary 
residents (i.e., work visa holders and contract workers), 
as they conduct their personal business transactions, or 
seek to invest in The Bahamas’ international fi nancial 
sector and abroad. 
At the close of 2017, the Government agreed to the 
further relaxation of various exchange controls on cap-
ital and current account transactions. These included, 
increased delegation of foreign currency sales authority 

to commercial banks and money transmission businesses 
(MTBs) for payments for imports, travel and services. 
The measures also relax some capital fl ow restrictions on 
investment outfl ows, access to foreign currency accounts 
for business operations; and seek to regularise, without 
penalties, assets held outside The Bahamas by resi-
dents, who should have obtained prior exchange control 
authorisation. The measures took effect on February 1, 

2018, and were informed by consultations, which 
the Central Bank undertook with both the Govern-
ment and private sector stakeholders. An important 
theme of these engagements, was the Government’s 
thrust to increase the “ease of doing business” in 
The Bahamas.
Special facilities, such as the Bahamas Deposito-
ry Receipt (BDR) programme, continued to have 
modest participation. In 2017, three licensed broker 
dealers participated in the programme, utilizing 
$16.4 million of the $35.0 million annual alloca-
tion. Residents continued to make outward capital 
investments through the ICM at the premium bid 
and offer rates of 12.5% and 10.0%, respectively. 
Sales activity for 2017 in the ICM amounted to 
$10.9 million.
In terms of exchange control approvals, spend-
ing on oil imports continued to dominate current 

account payments, at $1.20 billion, followed by service 
sector outlays ($1.04 billion), non-oil imports ($786.6 
million), debt service payments ($642.0 million), in-
surance outfl ows ($442.0 million), dividend payments 
($355.5 million) and money transfers ($86.0 million).
During the year, the Central Bank also conducted a 
series of training sessions to assist commercial banks in 
ensuring customer compliance with the requirements of 
the increased delegation of authority. Such interactions 
are important, as delegated responsibility continues to 
shift to authorised dealers.
As part of its on-going initiatives to streamline process-
es, increase effi ciencies and reduce response timelines, 
the Exchange Control Department liaised with the Min-
istry of Finance, to explore how certain application pro-
cedures for foreign investments could be simplifi ed, and 
to consider how stamp tax compliance processes could 
be less constraining. As of February 2018, the Bank no 
longer intervened in tax compliance matters, potentially 
affecting real estate investments.
Authorized Dealers and Authorized Agents remained 
important stakeholders in the administration of exchange 
controls and at the end of 2017, the number of the Au-
thorized Dealers and Agents each stood at 8.

Currency Account  Account No. of % of Total
 Balances Balances Accounts  Balances
 2016 2017 2017 (2017)
 ($’000)

Australian $ 72.5 78.5 2 0.1
Bahamian $ 16,684.0 17,885.0 33,764 22.1
Canadian $ 5,742.6 6,237.5 429 7.7
Swiss Franc 1,428.3 1,503.6 17 1.9
Euro 913.9 1,385.9 37 1.7
UK (Sterling) 570.9 625.3 111 0.8
Hong Kong $ 912.9 905.9 1 1.1
US$ 50,251.8 52,303.3 7,147 64.6
TOTALS 76,576.9 80,924.9 41,508 100

Source: Central Bank of The Bahamas

Table 2: Dormant Account Balances
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PAYMENT & SETTLEMENT SYSTEMS
Oversight
The goal of the Bank, through its Payments Unit, is to 
strengthen the oversight of the domestic payments and 
settlement systems, while ensuring the effi ciency, relia-
bility and security of the country’s payments infrastruc-
ture. The system includes the two local clearing houses 
the Bahamas Automated Clearing House (BACH), 
which is owned by the clearing banks and processes 
small value transactions of less than $150,000, and the 
Central Bank-owned Bahamas Inter-Bank Settlement 
System (BISS), which facilitates real time settlement of 
large value payments greater than $150,000. In line with 
this goal, quarterly meetings were held with members of 
the BACH, to consider collateral and settlement issues 
of commercial banks, internal audits and other signif-
icant developments that emerged. Meetings were also 
held with key stakeholders of BISS, focused on issues 
such as operational effi ciencies and the on-going devel-
opment of the BISS. 
As to progress with modernisation, during the year the 
Bank released the Payment Instruments (Oversight) Reg-
ulations, 2017, and corresponding General Information 
and Application Guidelines for Providers of Electronic 
Retail Payments Instruments and Electronic Money 
Products, aimed at providing the general basis for the 
development of a retail payments regime and electronic 
payments in particular. The Bank’s goal with this initi-
ative is to promote less dependence on the use of cash 
within the domestic economy, and to accelerate fi nancial 
inclusion initiatives that provide wider population access 
to regulated payment services. Non-deposit taking insti-
tutions and non-MTBs are expected to take advantage of 
licensing opportunities, under the Regulations, to pro-
vide an expanded range of domestic payments services.

Market Developments Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS)
The volume of RTGS transactions registered sustained, 
although moderate gains in 2017. The seven participating 
clearing banks processed, in addition to direct interbank 
transactions, X9 (cheques) and NACHA (direct credits) 
payments, over the BISS-RTGS, in seven daily settle-
ment windows, commencing at 8:15 a.m. and ending 
at 4:45 p.m. During the year, the total volume of trans-
actions processed by the RTGS rose by 7.8% to 92.2 
million, from 85.5 million in 2016. Similarly, the associ-
ated value of these transactions grew by 15.1% to $29.3 
billion, in contrast to $25.5 billion in the previous year.

Cheques
Technological advances and electronic payment meth-
ods continue to drive the general decline in the use of 
cheques, with the exception of large value payments. The 

number of processed instruments declined by 3.4% to 2.5 
million during 2017, following a 2.3% reduction in the 
prior year. In contrast, the associated value of these pay-
ments increased by 1.8% to $7.2 billion, a reversal from a 
1.3% decline last year. 

NACHA Payments
The BACH processes payments in accordance with the 
globally accepted National Automated Clearing House 
Association (NACHA) format. In 2017, the volume of 
these transactions expanded by 10.1% to 2.6 million, 
with simultaneous growth in the value by 42.1% to 
$2,806.6 million. 

Retail Payment Services
Although statistics on retail payments are not readily 
available, anecdotal evidence suggests that the payments 
landscape in The Bahamas continues to expand, driven 
by the growing use of technology. Underpinning this 
expansion, is the upswing in the volume of electronic 
payments (e-payments). 

Automated Teller Machines (ATMs)
These machines are installed throughout the country. The 
locations vary from inside commercial bank branches, 
to areas of high customer transit, such as supermarkets 
and gas stations. Some machines—specifi cally those 
placed in high tourist traffi c areas—are confi gured to 
dispense both Bahamian and US currency. In 2017, the 
number of ATMs in operation fell by 10.0% to 362, from 
a revised 402 in 2016. Further, the volume of transactions 
decreased by 3.9% to 10.2 million, compared to 10.6 mil-
lion in 2016. By contrast, the value of transactions rose 
by 5.0% to approximately $2.1 billion, from $2.0 billion 
in the previous year.

Debit Cards
Debit cards continued to be issued locally by all com-
mercial banks. International branding, such as Visa and 
MasterCard, which allow for both domestic and foreign 
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transactions, have substantively replaced non-branded 
cards. Pursuant to this development, in 2017 the number 
of debit card transactions—often direct substitutes for 
ATM and credit card usage––fi rmed by 24.6% to 11.4 
million, while the corresponding value grew by 18.0% to 
$1.6 billion.

Credit Cards
Credit cards issued by the local commercial banks, are 
generally associated with international payment compa-
nies, such as Visa and MasterCard. Most personal cards 
carry limits which range from $500-$5,000, $5,000-
$10,000 and over $10,000. For select high net worth 
individuals, there is scope for negotiating specifi c limits.
A breakdown of credit card data for 2017, revealed 
continued growth in the number of cards either issued 
or renewed by banks, which rose by 15.3% to 259,850, 
following a gain of 18.2% in the previous year. The trend 
also refl ects the accelerated transition to more secure pin 
and chip enable cards, which are expected to replace non-
chip enabled cards before the end of 2018. Notwithstand-
ing this transition, unpaid credit card balances decreased 
marginally by 0.5% to $254.9 million, a turnaround from 
a 2.8% expansion in 2016. Among these cards, growth in 
balances was largely attributed to those with limits under 
$5,000, which expanded by 18.4% to 224,309 cards; 
however, the corresponding value of credit outstanding 
decreased by 3.5% to $107.7 million. In addition, the 
number of cards possessing a limit of $5,000-$10,000 
and the associated unpaid balances, declined by 2.1% to 
22,184 and by 1.6% to $69.3 million, respectively. For 
cards with caps over $10,000, the number of instruments 
in circulation fi rmed by 1.1% to 13,357, while the corre-
sponding value grew by 5.0% to $77.9 million.

Internet Banking
Commercial banks continue to offer expanding Internet 
banking services to their customers, with fees attached 
in some cases, affording users the ability to, inter alia,
check their account balances, make transfers between 
personal and third party bank accounts, pay utility bills 
and purchase foreign currency. The Central Bank’s 2017 
payments survey revealed that the number of total users, 
inclusive of residential, business, public sector and other 
users, fi rmed by 11.1% to 84,212 accounts, compared to 
75,819 accounts in 2016. 

ECONOMIC ANALYSIS, STATISTICS & RESEARCH
Through its regular economic publications, research 
studies and surveys, the Research Department fulfi ls its 
mandate of providing the public with comprehensive, 
accurate and timely economic and fi nancial information. 
In line with this objective, during the year the Depart-

ment authored recurring publication of the Monthly 
Economic and Financial Development (MEFD) report 
for the MPC, the Quarterly Economic Review (QER), 
the Quarterly Statistical Digest (QSD) and the Annual 
Report. In addition, the Financial Stability Report (FSR) 
for 2016 was published in August 2017, providing a 
comprehensive analysis of developments within the do-
mestic fi nancial sector for the year, and an assessment 
of risks to domestic fi nancial stability from both internal 
and external factors. During the year, the Department 
also published its expanded quarterly presentations 
made to the MPC. These presentations, which are 
prepared in conjunction with the end-of-quarter MPC 
report, provide extended analysis of the various sectors 
within the economy, and highlight important long-term 
trends in key economic performance indicators. In terms 
of surveys, the report entitled, “The Gross Economic 
Contribution of the Financial Sector to the Economy,”
was prepared by the Department and published in 
the March edition of the QER, while the information 
compiled for the quarterly Bank Lending Conditions 
Survey, was disseminated to the public via the quarterly 
MPC presentations. 

Research projects undertaken by staff focused on several 
important economic themes, and were presented at the 
Department’s internal forums and external conferences. 
These studies included: an assessment of the credit rating 
downgrade by S&P and its implications for the country; 
an investigation of the optimal leading economic indica-
tors for The Bahamas; an overview of policy options for 
achieving debt sustainability domestically, and a review 
of global trends in electronic payments. Members of staff 
also presented aspects of their research at the regional 
annual Monetary Studies Conference, which was held in 
Belize in November. The two papers shared were enti-
tled, “An Analysis of the Leading Determinants of Bank 
Profi tability for Bahamian Commercial Banks,” and, 
“The Impact of De-risking on Caribbean Economies and 
Long-Term Options for the Region.” 
Staff from the Department also participated in discus-
sions with teams from the IMF and other international 
agencies, as part of their regular series of annual meet-
ings. In addition, as a key aspect of its mandate, the De-
partment disseminated economic data to various regional 
and international institutions. 

During the year, the Department actively continued with 
initiatives to improve the quality and scope of the data 
collected and to ensure that data remained compliant with 
international compilation standards. In this regard, the 
IMF’s Caribbean Regional Technical Assistance Centre 
(CARTAC), facilitated a Balance of Payments (BOP) 
technical assistance mission, from May 29-June 9, to 
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assist the Department’s compilers in upgrading the BOP 
compilation methodology to the latest format (BPM6). 
Research staff also participated in a local CARTAC 
workshop in June 2017, on developing appropriate mac-
ro-prudential and systemic risk indicators for assessing 
fi nancial stability. Further, in November, the Depart-
ment, in conjunction with the Centre for Latin American 
Monetary Studies (CEMLA), hosted a regional workshop 
entitled, “Macro-prudential and Monetary Policies for 
Small Open Economies.”

The Bank’s Library also forms an integral part of the De-
partment’s operations. During the year, the Library made 
progress with the Central Bank’s website re-development 
project. In addition, the Library, as Administrator of the 
Internet, participated in the establishment of the Bank’s 
Learning Management System (LMS), an application 
which will be used to facilitate online training sessions 
within the Bank. 
With regard to public education, the Department continued 
to play a key role in the Bank’s school outreach programme, 
by facilitating a number of presentations to high school and 
college students, on the role and functions of the Central 
Bank. A number of requests from members of the public to 
provide presentations on various economic matters, were 
also fi elded during the review period and staff from the 
Department collaborated on the speeches and presentations 
made by senior members of the Bank’s staff. 

PRUDENTIAL SUPERVISION & REGULATION 
Supervisory Developments 
In line with its strategic objectives, in 2017 the Bank rea-
ligned its functional units and processes within the Bank 
Supervision Department. This restructuring is intended 
to improve supervisory effectiveness and operational 
effi ciency, and reduce supervisory response and interven-
tion timelines. A somewhat simple but effective change 
undertaken by the Department was the streamlining of its 
approval processes to better align the level of internal ap-
provals, with the complexity of the various applications 
and other supervisory decisions. In addition, removing 
low-value and time-consuming tasks from senior deci-
sion makers, lifted their capacity to focus on high-value 
outputs, thereby improving the effectiveness in supervis-
ing the fi nancial sector.
With the issuance of the 2017 Caribbean Financial Action 
Task Force’s (CFATF) Mutual Evaluation Report (MER), 
a key milestone coming out of the realignment process was 
the creation of an Analytics Unit to focus on AML/CFT 
surveillance and fi nancial data analytics. Historically, the 
Department placed primary emphasis on fi nancial sound-
ness, with some supervision/examination of AML/CFT 

as it relates to its Supervised Financial Institutions (SFIs). 
Although prudential supervision will continue to be a key 
driver, the new Analytics Unit sets out a clear commitment 
by the Bank to enhance its AML/CFT supervisory frame-
work and provide continuous supervision of both fi nancial 
soundness and AML/CFT risks.
The examination process was another area of reform 
during the latter part of 2017. This process was re-en-
gineered to achieve greater effi ciencies, including the 
production of a fi nal Report of Examination (RoE) within 
20 working days after a visit to a SFI. Two key features 
of the re-engineered process, which came into effect in 
January 2018, include: discussions with external auditors 
prior to the onsite visit, to gain insights into their audit 
approach, key audit areas and any concerns that they may 
have with the SFI’s management and or operations; 
and the elimination of draft reports issued to SFIs.
In 2017, the Department released a taxonomy of supervi-
sory action words, which seeks to reduce any ambiguity 
regarding the actions required by SFIs. The Department 
has included these words in a document entitled “Gen-
eral Glossary of Terms,” which was shared with SFIs 
and posted on the Bank’s website. The Department then 
undertook an extensive exercise to remap past recom-
mendations set out in its previously issued RoEs into the 
“Directives, Requirements and Expectations” framework 
and reissued to SFIs.  It is anticipated that new regula-
tions and guidelines will adopt the new nomenclature, 
whilst issued guidelines will be retrofi tted as they come 
up for review, to align with the new words.

Basel II & III Implementation Programme 
Alongside its Basel II/III Implementation programme, the 
Bank also reviewed its approach to prudential regula-
tion, with a view towards developing a more streamlined 
prudential framework, with higher value being placed 
on simplicity. The end goal being the development of a 
simplifi ed rulebook that is super-equivalent to the Basel 
Committee’s rule text, and appropriately optimized to the 
Bahamian context.
A key component of the Pillar II – Supervisory Review 
Process element of the Basel capital framework, is the 
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), 
which was to be completed by the SFIs and submitted 
in June, 2017. While assessing the ICAAPs, the Bank 
determined that several SFIs could be exempted from this 
requirement and for those not exempted, it defi ned the 
frequency with which the reports needed to be submitted. 
During the second quarter of 2017, the Bank released the 
revised version of a Guide to the Central Bank’s Lad-
der of Supervisory Intervention, which summarizes the 
circumstances under which intervention measures may 
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be expected. The guideline was also revised to align with 
the Bank’s risk-based supervisory framework, which 
supports the Basel Committee’s Pillar II – Supervisory 
Review Process. 
The Bank’s Guidelines on Minimum Disclosures were 
released in late 2016. However, given the extensive 
industry feedback received, the Bank withdrew the 
guidelines via Notice dated 6th November, 2017. These 
guidelines will be revised and a simpler Pillar III disclo-
sure rule will be issued in 2018.
The Bank will also focus on implementing the remaining 
elements of the Basel III framework, including the Capital 
Buffers, the Leverage Ratio, the Liquidity Coverage Ratio 
(LCR), the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), and a Do-
mestic Systemically Important Banks (D-SIB) framework. 
Amendments to the relevant guidelines and supervisory 
frameworks are expected to occur throughout 2018.

Risk-Based Supervisory Framework
During the year, the Bank continued to refi ne its risk-
based supervisory framework and in this regard, intro-
duced the concept of “evergreening” as an enhancement 
to the risk assessment process. The evergreening frame-
work is intended to refresh the Bank’s point in time risk 
view of fi nancial institutions, and deploy the necessary 
supervisory tools based on the magnitude and direction 
of emerging risks.
With the intended introduction of continuous “ever-
greening” of a SFI’s risk profi le, in 2018 the Bank plans 
to migrate from its initial practice of an 18-month to a 
three-year cycle for undertaking a full/simplifi ed risk 
assessment, to a three to fi ve-year cycle. For newly 
licensed institutions, a full or simplifi ed risk assessment 
is required to be completed after the fi rst year of the issu-
ance of the license.
During 2017, the Department performed regular reviews 
of each SFI’s fi nancial soundness, based on fi nancial data 
received as part of their monthly, quarterly, and annual 
reporting cycles. The Department also conducts compre-
hensive risk assessments of SFIs on an ad hoc basis. As 
at December 31, 2017, one of the 24 assessments was 
completed, while 14 were at various stages of comple-
tion. In addition, eight discovery reviews were complet-
ed, with one still in progress. 

On-site Examinations
Examination Programme 

Over the course of 2017, the Bank conducted a total of 19 
on-site examinations and 11 discovery review meetings 
(See: Table 3). The examinations conducted included: 
• three full scope safety and soundness examinations of 

international fi rms;

• four limited scope reviews of commercial banks’ risk 
management frameworks around AML/CFT, elements 
of credit, fi nancial reporting and controls and outsourc-
ing risks; 

• one follow-up examination of a fi nancial credit union; 
and

• eleven limited scope views of international fi rms, 
where several risk areas, including AML compliance, 
outsourcing and corporate governance were examined, 
in addition to validating the effectiveness of the reme-
dial work undertaken to close gaps identifi ed during the 
previous examinations.

As a result of this process, 22 examination reports, 
including fi ve outstanding from 2016, were completed. 
As at December 2017, there were two reports, which, 
although drafted, were yet to progress to fi nal format. In 
2017, the Bank received no requests from foreign (home) 
regulatory authorities to facilitate examinations of Baha-
mian SFIs.

Joint Examinations with the Securities Commission 
of The Bahamas
In 2017, the Examination Unit undertook six joint exami-
nations with the Securities Commission of The Bahamas, 
utilizing the Protocol for the Joint On-site Examinations 
by the Central Bank and the Commission, which was 
revised in January 2012. The Commission did not partic-
ipate in any of the discovery review meetings with joint 
SFIs.

Off-site Surveillance and Monitoring Activities
Commercial Banks

Throughout 2017, enhanced monitoring of the domestic 
commercial banking sector was maintained. The Depart-

 2015  2016  2017
Examinations   
 Domestic Licensees 1  4  4 
 Other Licensees  17  15  14 
 Follow-up /Special focus 
  examinations/Regulator Initiated 7* 4* 0 
 Discovery Reviews 2* 8* 11*
 Financial Credit Unions 3  4  1 
 Total  30  35  30 

Reports   

 Finalized Reports 21  27  22 
 Reports in Progress 7  5  5 
 Total  28  32  27 

Source: Central Bank of The Bahamas   
*No report to licensee required, internal report generated for supervisory 
purposes.

TABLE 3: On-site Examinations Conducted
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ment employed its supervisory objectives through its 
Risk-Based Supervision Framework (RBSF), supported 
by prudential meetings with senior management to dis-
cuss organizational and/or senior management changes, 
emerging risk trends, operations and strategic initiatives, 
to be implemented within 2018 and beyond. Meetings 
were also held with critical functions, such as Internal 
Audit and Compliance, which provided an independent 
perspective of internal risk models. Financial and regu-
latory data submitted were also reviewed to ensure that 
commercial banking licenses complied with all pruden-
tial limits and regulatory requirements. In addition, SFIs 
were advised, following the release of The Bahamas’ 
MER by the CFATF in July 2017, that the Department had 
undertaken a major initiative in an effort to enhance its 
AML/CFT supervision. Further, SFIs commenced report-
ing updates relative to all pre-2000 unverifi ed facilities in 
the revised format for the period ending June, 2017.
Moreover, representatives of the Department participated 
in regional and international home supervisory colleges 
and periodic teleconferences for consolidated supervi-
sion purposes, mainly for the Canadian home-supervised 
commercial banks. 
As at end-December 2017, the domestic asset base of 
the commercial banks and trust companies rose by $0.9 
million (5.4%) to $16.7 billion, compared to $15.9 billion 
reported in the prior period. This was due primarily to 
investments in BRS and US$ fi xed deposits. Commercial 
banks’ branch networks contracted by eleven and stood 
at sixty-seven  branches, compared with seventy-eight 
in the previous year. This contraction was driven mainly 
by further rationalization and consolidation of branch 
operations, particularly among Canadian banks, to reduce 
costs, improve operational effi ciencies and enhance cus-
tomers’ experience.

Credit Risk Reviews

Credit risk is the most prominent risk facing the domestic 
fi nancial system and it’s vital that mitigating controls are 
effective. The Department’s level of credit risk oversight 
was comprised of fi nancial analysis of regulatory and 
fi nancial returns, as well as onsite reviews and periodic 
meetings with senior management.
Meetings with management have aided the Department 
in evaluating the measures, both qualitative and strategic, 
taken by the commercial banks to mitigate risks, which 
are otherwise not evident through the monthly fi nancial 
returns. However, reliance is placed on the review of 
trends within the credit portfolios, inclusive of the total 
B$ loans; the levels of arrears (i.e., past due and non-per-
forming loans); sectoral and large exposures; provi-
sioning levels and restructured loans with delinquency 

management strategies, specifi c aspects of operational 
risk management, including but not limited to fraudulent 
activity and stress testing.
During 2017, notable progress was made relative to the 
strategies employed by the commercial banks to increase 
profi ts and lower the level of non-performing facilities on 
their books. Commercial banks continued to provide con-
cessions to existing customers through debt consolidation 
and restructuring, despite tighter policies. The passage 
of the Homeowners Protection Act 2017, received some 
opposition from SFIs, due to the purported challenges for 
banks in ensuring the timely collection and/or resolution 
of problem residential mortgages. The Act, which is seen 
as a landmark piece of legislation, aims to assist respon-
sible homeowners who, for no fault of their own, become 
fi nancially challenged and need an opportunity to read-
just their position to the current economic realities. In 
such instances, the decision to foreclose on a residential 
mortgage is removed from the lender and placed under 
the discretion of the courts.
With the mild economic activity in 2017, some commer-
cial banks continued to address their elevated non-per-
forming loans (NPLs), through increased sales of assets 
in their residential and commercial real estate distressed 
property portfolios. In addition, close adherence to the 
1.0% minimum regulatory general provision requirement 
imposed on all SFIs was maintained, as it is a mitigant 
for losses not yet identifi ed or materialized in the entire 
loan book or aggregate credit exposures. Despite this 
fact, banks remained above the 17.0% regulatory mini-
mum capital risk-adjusted ratio; thereby mitigating any 
fi nancial stability concerns.
Stress Testing

Credit risk stress test results indicated that capital ratios 
remained above the required capital levels, despite a 
doubling in NPLs. Thus, at a system-level, no additional 
capital was required.
Capital Adequacy

During 2017, despite dividend payments to sharehold-
ers, a surplus in retained earnings and the redemption of 
non-qualifying Tier II capital, commercial banks’ capital 
levels remained robust. The capital to risk-weighted ratio 
stood at 32.5%, well above the established regulatory tar-
get and trigger ratios of 17.0% and 14.0%, respectively.
Credit Unions

The number of credit unions under the supervisory 
oversight of the Department remained constant at 10–
inclusive of The Bahamas Co-operative League Ltd. 
Meetings were held with the credit unions to discuss the 
Department’s minimum expectations relative to corporate 
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governance, as well as other relevant topics impacting the 
sector. The Department monitored the operations of its li-
censees through its assessment of regulatory fi ndings, the 
fi nancial returns and key PEARLS1 standard ratios; all of 
which are a part of the supervisory programme in place. 
At end-December 2017, credit unions’ total assets stood 
at $420.3 million, for an average growth of 6.4% over the 
past fi ve years. The membership totalled 42,186 persons, 
compared to 42,060  persons as at December 2016.

International Firms
The international banking and trust sector comprised 227 
banks and trust companies at end-December, representing 
94.0% of the total number of SFIs operating from within 
The Bahamas. Collectively, the international SFIs main-
tained an asset base of US$171.1 billion, with business 
activities primarily in private banking, wealth manage-
ment, deposit taking, lending and trading. The majority 
of these SFIs are either subsidiaries or branches of larger 
international/global entities. 
In June 2017, The Bahamas made a commitment to 
implement the Common Reporting Standard (CRS)/
Automatic Exchange of Information via the Multilateral 
Convention on the Mutual Administrative Assistance in 
Tax Matters, on a non-reciprocal basis. The decision was 
made by the Government to use the “wider approach”. 
Such an approach would allow the SFIs to collect and re-
tain CRS information, ready to report, on all non-resident 
account holders. On 13th December, 2017, The Bahamas 
signed onto the Multilateral Competent Authority Agree-
ment. Subsequent to the signing of this document, the 
international banking and trust sector experienced mar-
ginal declines in customer deposits, due to international 
customers taking advantage of relevant Tax Amnesty 
Programmes, as well as the re-engineering of business 
operating models, which has also greatly impacted strate-
gic plans, ownership structure and human capital.
The Bank continued to utilize its primary supervisory 
tools to monitor and supervise the international fi rms 
through on-going risk assessments, fi nancial analyses, 
prudential meetings, discovery review meetings, meet-
ings with internal auditors and on-site examinations, 
as well as collaborations with local fi nancial industry 
stakeholders and home regulators. Given the fact that 
reputation risk continues to be a predominant factor for 
international fi rms, the Bank has strengthened its focus 
on continuous supervision of AML/CFT risks. 
Operational effi ciencies remained at the forefront for the 
international banking and trust sector. SFIs are engaged 
in cost cutting measures, such as outsourcing, standard-

1  Protection, Effective Financial Structure, Asset Quality, Rates of Return and costs, Liquidity, 
Signs of Growth.

izing processes, consolidating business services and the 
automation of many functions. Outsourcing agreements 
are a material consideration for the critical operations of 
many SFIs. In 2017, the Bank processed 23 outsourcing 
arrangements between international fi rms and their parent 
banks and/or third party providers.
In light of the increasingly demanding global regula-
tory requirements, compliance initiatives, and other 
reforms, parent banks have rationalized their offshore 
businesses, resulting in some restructured or reduced 
presence within the local jurisdiction. A total of two 
mergers and acquisitions took place throughout the 
year. At the same time, domestically-owned banks 
(with international operations), are seeking oppor-
tunities for expansion and growth by acquiring the 
businesses of exiting licensees, as well as entering into 
new markets and business lines. 
De-risking initiatives have proven to be a material con-
sideration for some SFIs, resulting in more constrained 
correspondent banking options. As a result, fi rms are 
developing contingency plans to address the varying 
scenarios, and the Bank continues to take measures to 
deal with this emerging risk. SFIs are currently engaged 
in strategic endeavours to diversify their CBRs for var-
ious currencies, in particular US Dollar correspondent 
relationships. In addition, SFIs are also comprehensively 
reassessing their operational strengths and vulnerabilities, 
to ensure that they are locally and internationally compli-
ant with relevant regulations and to ensure that business 
operations remain profi table and viable. To supplement 
this initiative, the Bank is strengthening its risk man-
agement focus for the fi nancial services industry, with 
particular interest surrounding its AML/CFT risk and 
controls compliance regime.

Money Transmission Businesses
During the year, the Bank maintained its robust regulato-
ry and supervisory regime for MTBs and Money Trans-
mission Agents (MTAs1). The total number of MTBs 
increased by two to fi ve, while the total number of agents 
rose by one to twelve (See: Table 4). Principals of this 
sector of SFIs are assessing their business models, given 

Table 4: Money Transmission Businesses

 2015 2016 2017

Non-Bank MTBs 2 3 5

Non-Bank MTAs 11 11 12

MTB Branches 13 13 36

Source: Central Bank of The Bahamas

1 An MTA means any person carrying on money transmission business on behalf of a Money 
Transmission Service Provider.
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the trend in the commercial banking sector, with the 
view to deploying planned strategic initiatives to enhance 
service delivery, expand product offerings and grow their 
customer base.

Supervisory Policy and Guidance
Following ongoing consultation with the industry, the 
Bank revised a number of guidelines and withdrew one 
guideline in 2017. These are highlighted below:

Revised Guidelines
• A Guide to the Central Bank’s Ladder of Supervisory 

Intervention (May 2017). This guide, which replaces 
the one issued in April 2006, was revised to align with 
the Bank’s Risk-Based Supervisory Framework and 
to broaden the applicability to all supervised fi nancial 
institutions.

• Guidelines for the Administration of Monetary Penal-
ties (February 2017). The guidelines were amended 
to clarify that the due date for the submission of the 
Daily B$ Position report, is two business days after the 
reference period.

• Guidelines for Supervised Financial Institutions on the 
Prevention of Money Laundering & the Countering 
the Financing of Terrorism (May 2017). The guide-
lines were amended to better align with the relevant 
international standards, namely the FATF’s Forty 
Recommendations and the FATF’s 2013 Methodology. 
The guidelines take account of the Bank’s assumption of 
the regulatory and supervisory responsibility for co-op-
erative credit unions, under the Bahamas Co-operative 
Credit Unions’ Act, 2015, and other amending legisla-
tion.

• Guidelines for the Management of Credit Risk for 
Credit Unions (July 2017). These guidelines were re-
vised to change the term limit for personal loans, from 
a maximum of 10 years to 7 years, to align with the 
term limit set out at Regulation 3(1) of the Bahamas 
Co-operative Credit Unions Regulations, 2015.

Withdrawn Guidelines
• Guidelines on Minimum Disclosures (November 2017).

These guidelines, which were originally issued in De-
cember 2016, were withdrawn.

Legislative Initiatives

Dormant Accounts
• During 2017, the Bank continued to develop proposals 

for revisions to the legislative framework for Dormant 
Accounts. The proposed reforms will broaden dormant 
account protection from deposits to securities, and 
defi ne the minimum period before which unclaimed 

assets will be handed over to the Government for liqui-
dation. The initiative also requires amendments to the 
Banks and Trust Companies Regulation Act, 2000, and 
the Central Bank of The Bahamas Act, 2000, which 
have been forwarded to the Attorney General’s Depart-
ment for fi nal vetting.

Crisis Management/Bank Resolution Regime
• The Bank continued its work on fi nalizing the national 
fi nancial crisis management plan. Further enhancements 
were also made to the Bank’s resolution legislative 
framework. More specifi cally, amendments were made 
to the Banks and Trust Companies Regulation (Amend-
ment) Bill, 2017, the Central Bank of The Bahamas 
Bill, 2017, and the Protection of Depositors (Amend-
ment) Bill, 2017, to facilitate the Bank’s new role as the 
resolution authority for banks going forward.

Credit Bureau
• The Bank’s efforts to establish an appropriate legal 

and regulatory framework to support a national credit 
reporting system were on-going, and in this regard, the 
Credit Reporting Bill, 2014, and the Credit Reporting 
Regulations, 2014, received further amendments in 
2017, and were tabled in Parliament. The draft legisla-
tion was passed in early 2018. In addition, the Bank is 
developing its guidelines for licensing, operating and 
supervising a credit bureau in The Bahamas, and will 
spearhead an awareness campaign, through several 
media outlets, to educate the public on the implications 
of establishing a credit reporting bureau.

Domestic, Regional and International 
Regulatory Cooperation

Supervisory Cooperation
In 2017, the Bank received and responded to 14 informa-
tion requests from 11 foreign regulatory authorities (See: 
Table 5).

Engagement with Domestic and International 
Regulators 
At the local level, senior staff from the Department, in 
conjunction with the Legal Unit, participated in the work 
of the Group of Financial Service Regulators (GFSR), 
which comprises the fi ve domestic regulators for banks 
and trust companies, the securities industry, insurance 
companies, credit unions and fi nancial and corporate 
service providers.
At the regional and international levels, senior staff of 
the Department participated in regulatory colleges in 
the Caribbean and Canada for the domestic systemically 
important commercial banks in 2017. Senior staff also 
attended the Group of International Financial Centres’ 
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discussions, held as a part of the annual International 
Banking Supervisors’ Conference in London and Ber-
muda in 2017. The Department continued its engage-
ment with home-consolidated regulators of SFIs, via the 
annual regulatory letters. This is a proactive measure to 
ascertain the risk areas identifi ed within the group entity, 
and to gauge whether any impact would be transmitted to 
the established operations within The Bahamas. Informa-
tion with respect to specifi c regulatory issues or fi nancial, 
operational and environment risk factors, are exchanged 
through the various Memorandums of Understanding 
(MOUs) in force with foreign supervisors.

Regulated Entities and Functions
During 2017, the number of bank and trust companies 
decreased by 6 to 242 (See: Table 6). Eight licenses were 
issued (one public bank, one public trust and six restrict-
ed nominee trusts) and 14 entities ceased to carry on 
business, consisting of 4 public bank and trusts, 3 public 
banks, 5 restricted nominee trusts, and 2 non-active. Of 
the 242 licensed entities, 227 maintained a full physical 
presence in The Bahamas, while the remaining 15 operat-
ed via approved management agreements. Approximately 
48% of the total SFIs originate from G-10 countries. 
The Bank approved the registration of 13 Private Trust 
Companies (PTCs), while removing the same number of 
PTCs from its register, and resulting in the total number 
of registrants remaining at 121 at end-December 2017. 
The number of Financial and Corporate Service Provid-
ers that act as Registered Representatives (RRs) remained 
at 5, while 2 SFIs advised the Bank of their intention to 
act as RRs of PTCs, increasing the number to 21. Fur-
ther, the number of Financial Co-operative Credit Unions 
remained at 10, inclusive of the Bahamas Cooperative 
League Ltd. 

Regulatory applications processed and approved by the 
Bank totalled 360—the majority of which were linked to 
new appointments of officials. In keeping with prescribed 
“fit and proper” requirements, the Bank reviewed and 
approved the appointment of 102 directors, 142 money 
laundering reporting officers (MLROs) and executive 
officers and 93 senior officials/officers. In other adminis-
trative activities, some 52 outsourcing applications were 
approved, as SFIs took further decisions to streamline 
operational overhead and benefit from economies of 
scale. During 2017, 231 meetings were held with SFIs 
and other external guests to discuss license applications, 
prudential issues, on-site examinations and courtesy 
visits to the Bank.

Administrative Monetary Penalties
Penalties imposed since the implementation of the 
Administrative Monetary Penalties Regulations in 2016, 
totalled $646,062.50 as at 31st December, 2017, of which 
$561,250.00 had been paid–all breaches were attributed 
to 43 SFIs. Orders were issued for breaches covering 18 
different categories, the most active being: late or errone-
ous fi ling of the Daily Bahamian Dollar Open Position, 
the Weekly Interim Reports, and the Quarterly Unaudited 
Financial Statements. In addition, one notice was issued 
to a licensee for failure to comply with a directive.

DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION 
The Bank has the statutory responsibility to oversee the 
Deposit Insurance Fund (the Fund) for Bahamian dollar 
deposits in the banking system in The Bahamas. The 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (DIC) insures Bahamian 
dollar deposits up to a maximum of $50,000 for any sin-

TABLE 5: Requests for Cooperation in 2017

Country Requests Received

 From Foreign Regulators

British Virgin Islands 1
Cayman Islands 2
Guernsey 1
Hong Kong 1
Luxembourg 1
Malta 1
Panama 2
Philippines 1
Singapore 2
Switzerland 1
Trinidad & Tobago 1

Total Requests 14

Source:  Central Bank of The Bahamas 

TABLE 6:  Regulated Entities   

  2015 2016  2017 
Banks and Trusts 249 248  242 
 Banks & Trusts 64 62  55 
 Banks  31 31  30 
 Trusts 154 155  154 
Non-Licensee Reg. Representative 4 5  5 
Licensee Registered Representatives 18 19  21 
PTC (Registered) 112 121  121 
   
Non-Bank MTBs 2 3  5 
Non-Bank MTAs 11 11  12 
Cooperative Credit Unions 9  10  10 
   
Memo Items:   
Assets of Domestic Banks (B$Bill)  9.80   9.97   10.18 
 % change  2.1% 1.7% 2.1%
Assets of International Banks (B$Bill)  180.50   175.65   171.10 
 % change  -6.4% -2.7% -2.6%
   
Source: Central Bank of The Bahamas   
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gle depositor in each of its 12 member institutions. These 
entities do not hold equity positions in the DIC. 
The DIC assesses the depository institutions an annual 
premium equal to one-twentieth of one percent (0.05%) 
of deposits, averaged over their liabilities at 31st March 
and 30th September of the preceding year. Based on aver-
age total insurable Bahamian dollar deposits in domestic 
banks of $5.81 billion during 2017, relative to $5.75 bil-
lion in the previous year, premiums levied and collected 
during the year amounted to $2.91 million, compared to 
$2.87 million in the prior period. Factoring net earnings, 
the accumulated assets of the Fund increased by approx-
imately $4.91 million to $50.68 million, with $49.27 
million invested in BGRS.
In 2017, the DIC engaged a marketing and public re-
lations fi rm to manage its public awareness campaign, 
which was aimed at strengthening confi dence in the 
DIC’s role, as a part of the domestic fi nancial system 
safety net mechanism. The campaign included the launch 
of the DIC’s Facebook page, radio and Internet adver-
tisements, morning talk-radio appearances, distribution 
of DIC fl yers and bank statement inserts by member 
institutions, as well as the broadcasting of DIC Infomer-
cials in a cinema complex. In 2018, the DIC will measure 
the success of this awareness campaign by conducting a 
survey across the fi ve islands of New Providence, Grand 
Bahama, Abaco, Eleuthera and Exuma.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
The Bank’s use of technology is an important avenue for 
it to achieve its strategic goals. As such, in 2017 sustained 
and focused investments were made, aimed at modernizing 
the Bank’s information technology (IT) systems and pro-
cesses, in order to respond effectively to a rapidly evolving 
environment. Efforts were also maintained to investigate 
and invest in innovative FinTech, in order to strengthen the 
country’s payment systems. 
Consistent progress was made on the on-going digitiza-
tion project for documents, and in this regard, signifi cant 
focus was placed on electronically capturing thirty years 
of fi les within the Bank Supervision Department. This 
multi-year project will provide more secure and effi cient 
access to historical information, and reduce physical 
storage needs. The Bank also sought to raise further 
staff awareness of its records management programme, 
through an aggressive internal campaign during the latter 
part of the year.
In July, the Bank commenced upgrades to its security and 
threat management capabilities. This project responds 
to the globally high-profi le cybersecurity incidents and 
threats, which have had damaging effects on the oper-

ations of both private and public enterprises. The Bank 
also continued to strengthen its IT governance, risk and 
controls framework, as a means of enhancing resiliency 
and reducing the impact of risks to the enterprise. 
During the year, the Bank strengthened its mobile device 
management policy and introduced a “bring your own 
device” (BYOD) programme for users of non-enterprise 
equipment. The reforms added new policies and proce-
dures, as well as software to protect data on corporate 
issued and user supplied mobile devices. The Bank also 
acquired a cloud-based monitoring solution to comple-
ment the existing systems and network monitoring infra-
structure, to improve the supervision and availability of 
IT systems, including public facing services, such as the 
Online Reporting and Information Management Solution 
(ORIMS) and the Exchange Control online forms.
The IT Department also provided technical support and as-
sistance on a number of other strategic projects, including:
• The incorporation of an “evergreening” process within 

the risk-based framework solution for banking supervi-
sion.

• The implementation of a new three-year budgeting and 
planning framework for the Bank, built on the exist-
ing business intelligence and data analytics platform, 
along with the acquisition of a new planning analytics 
solution.

• Enhancements to the security event and information 
management solution used to detect security and other 
incidents that may impact the Bank’s systems and data.

• Development of a new online portal for Exchange Con-
trol matters.

In order to maintain the high standard of service, gov-
ernance, and management of the Bank’s information 
systems, the Department adopted a new project manage-
ment methodology, aimed at improving the effectiveness 
and governance of its IT project delivery. Recognizing 
synergies with this new framework and the existing 
System Development Life Cycle, the Department drafted 
numerous project management documentation templates 
that will be shared by both processes.

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH & 
SAFETY IN THE WORKPLACE
The Bank strives to effectively manage its various 
facilities, enhance workplace safety and improve energy 
effi ciency. The Bank conducts business from the Main 
Building in New Providence, situated between Market 
Street and Frederick Street on the east, and the leased 
Trimark Building, located north of the Main Building. 
Another leased property, in Freeport, Grand Bahama, 
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situated on the second fl oor of the Siboney Commercial 
Centre, The Mall Drive, is used to conduct exchange con-
trol-related business. The Bank also owns three protected 
historical buildings: the Great House, a limestone struc-
ture which serves as the employee cafeteria; Balcony 
House, a two-storied period building presently managed 
by the Antiquities, Monuments and Museums Corpora-
tion (AMMC) as a museum; and Verandah House, which 
was formally used as a training facility by The Bahamas 
Institute of Financial Services (BIFS). 
Major structural works were undertaken during 2017 to 
further improve and protect the security, safety and func-
tionality of the Bank’s properties. These included: the 
start of the main building’s roofi ng replacement and un-
derdeck rehabilitation; the replacement of air-condition-
ing machinery and the upgrade, through replacement, of 
the security surveillance system. Further, concrete repair 
work for the vault walls and ceilings and the step areas 
adjoining the Bank’s perimeter walk, also progressed 
steadily, and is expected to be completed in 2018. On 
the historic properties, the AMMC, aided the Bank with 
conservation and other repair work on Balcony House. 
In addition, Verandah House was repurposed into a staff 
recreational space, and plans were formulated to refur-
bish the eastern section of the Great House, in order to 
transform it into a training facility.
The Bank is focused on reducing its energy consumption 
footprint. Although energy costs increased by roughly 
2% compared to 2016, the outcome corresponded to the 
electricity surcharge. In terms of fuel costs, the Main 
Building, which accounts for over two-thirds of the 
Bank’s total electricity costs, realized a marked increase 
of nearly 16% in 2017. The development was partly due 
to the ineffi ciencies of its end-of-life air-conditioning 
systems, along with an increase in surcharge rates. Con-
versely the volume of electricity consumed decreased by 
7.4%. The overall utility costs, including water & sew-
erage, electricity, cable and telecommunications, grew 
modestly by 1.4%, when compared to 2016.
Focus also remained on securing alternative, more adequate 
long-term accommodations for the Bank’s operations. An 
immediate priority is to secure property for a new central 
building, within the limits of the City of Nassau. In collab-
oration with a technical team, comprising representatives 
from the Ministry of Works and the AMMC, the Bank 
is soliciting public input on the proposed design and site 
location for a new building. The technical team, completed 
planning and material production for an Architectural Urban 
Area Plan Competition, which included the Competition 
Brief to facilitate the launch of a competition and selection 
of a winning idea submission in the fi rst half of 2018.

Separately, plans are advancing to design and construct 
a new currency operations centre, that will be separate 
from the rest of the Bank’s operations. Discussions are 
progressing with the Government to secure an appropri-
ate track of land outside of the city limits. This project 
is expected to gain momentum in 2018.

Business Continuity

The Bank updated its Business Impact Analysis (BIA) 
and Vulnerability & Risk Assessment (VRA) in 2017 
and the on-going series of simulation exercises, Busi-
ness Continuity Plan (BCP) enhancements and related 
training, will continue through 2018. The Bank is also in 
negotiations to secure a lease space in the Annex Build-
ing at the UBS Property for a business continuity facility. 

STAFF COMPLEMENT & RELATIONS
At the end of December 2017, the staff complement stood 
at 245 employees, which comprised 174 non-management 
positions, 59 mid-managers, and 12 executive manage-
ment staff. The female to male ratio remained close to 
2:1 (See: Table 7). The turnover rate rose slightly by 1.2 
percentage points to 7.35%. A total of 18 employees were 
separated from the Bank due to resignations (11), retire-
ments (4), involuntary terminations (2), and completion of 
contract (1)–while there were 17 new hires. Movements 
among incumbent staff also included 34 internal appoint-
ments, of which 24 were promotions, 9 lateral transfers, 
and 1 appointment. At year’s end, there were 25 either 
vacant or pending vacancies across the Bank. 
The Bank is focused on having a highly engaged team 
and encourages the wholesome well-being of staff 
members by sponsoring activities which foster team 
spirit, communication and camaraderie, such as the 
annual Family Fun Day, the Health and Wellness week, 
the Annual Christmas Party for employees, the Annual 
Christmas Party for children of employees and month-
ly social gatherings for staff. In 2017, the Health and 
Wellness Week was given special emphasis to encourage 
staff to be more proactive in maintaining a healthy life-

TABLE 7:  Workforce Metrics

 2015  2016  2017 

Staff Complement 238  246  245 
   
Gender Distribution (%)   
 Male  33.0  33.7  32.3 
 Female 67.0  66.3  67.8 
   
Turnover Rate (%) 4.7  6.2  7.4 
   
Source: Central Bank of The Bahamas   
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style. In addition to the Health Fair and presentations on 
health-related topics, the week included activities such as 
the daily trivia and an after-work Fun/Run/Walk. In ad-
dition, an 8-week transformation challenge commenced, 
which, among other activities, incorporated a weight loss 
competition and weekly fi tness challenges. Eighty staff 
participated in the programme. 
The Bank continues to be a valued employer, as indicated 
by the high percentage of staff members with signifi cant 
years of service. At the end of 2017, an estimated 59.2% 
of staff had served for more than 10 years, with 29% 
being employed for more than 20 years. During the year, 
a total of 17 employees reached signifi cant milestones for 
years of continuous service, with recognition following 
at the Annual Long Service Award Ceremony on 18th

January, 2018. Two staff members were honoured for 40 
years of service, fi ve for 30 years, six for 20 years, and 
four for 10 years. 
In labour relations, the Bank remains constructively 
engaged with the non-management and the mid-man-
agement bargaining units which represent 93% of staff. 
The non-management staff is represented by the Union 
of Central Bankers (UCB) and mid-management staff 
by the Bahamas Communications and Public Managers 
Union (BCPMU). The Bank maintains communication 
with both unions, through separate quarterly meetings, to 
give and receive updates on current and upcoming events 
and issues, to explore remedies to known grievances, and 
address areas of employment which need improvement. 
On 13th July, 2017, the Bank concluded negotiations and 
signed a new three-year Industrial Agreement with the 
UCB, which expires on 31st December, 2020. The agree-
ment provided for a lump sum payment of $3,000 per 
employee on signing; salary increases of 3.25% in 2017 
and 3.00% in 2019; and additional lump sum payments 
of $2,500 and $3,000 per employee in 2018 and 2020, re-
spectively. In addition, the Bank expects to start engaging 
in negotiations with the BCPMU in 2018, as the current 
agreement is set to expire at the end of 2019. 

STAFF DEVELOPMENT    
The Bank provides learning opportunities to ensure that 
all members of staff have the requisite technical com-
petencies and soft skills to perform all of their functions 
effectively. They are expected to be very knowledgeable 
and aware of fi nancial services sector trends and best 
practices, and have the ability to adjust to the evolving 
needs of the Bank. In this regard, a series of in-house, 
local and overseas training opportunities, were facilitated 
by the Department over the year. A summary of the train-
ing and development options is shown in Table 8.

In-House Training 

The in-house training opportunities offered, included a 
4-module course in Spanish, held over a 15-month pe-
riod; a 4-module Supervisory Leadership Course, held 
over a 4-week period, a Performance Management Sem-
inar (half day) and a Retirement Training Workshop (3 
days). In addition, there were also several team-building 
sessions for various departments, as well as First Aid 
and CPR Training. 

Online and External Training

Through the Continuing Education Programme, the Bank 
supports staff who wish to pursue tertiary level education 
and/or professional certifi cations. In 2017, a total of 17 
staff members received approvals for continuing studies. 
Twelve staff were also rewarded for degrees and certifi -
cations completed in 2017. 
During the year, staff attended a variety of local and 
international conferences, which focused on various 
aspects of prudential supervision and regulation, macro-
economic and fi nancial stability issues, external reserve 
management and corporate governance. Staff also 
participated in workshops, both online and externally, to 
strengthen their technical skills in the areas of statistical 
compilation, business continuity, human resources man-
agement and counterfeit currency detection. 

Table 8: Summary of Training Developments 

 In- House Local Overseas Total
 Training Training Training Participants
First Quarter 137 48 20 205
Second Quarter 86 17 27 130
Third Quarter 45 12 22 79
Fourth Quarter 137 66 21 224

TOTAL 405 143 90 638

Source: Central Bank of The Bahamas
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The Inaugural T.B. Donaldson Memorial 
Lecture

In June 2017, the Central Bank unveiled 
the bust of Mr. Timothy B. Donaldson, 
CBE, who served as its founding Governor 
from 1974 to 1980. Mr. Donaldson, who 
died in February 2013, led the transition of 
this institution from a Monetary Authority 
to a Central Bank, and was instrumental 
in framing not just the monetary and 
supervisory policy regime of the Bank, but 
also the fi nancial sector as a whole. As the 
founding sponsor of The Bahamas Institute 
of Financial Services (BIFS), Governor 
Donaldson’s vision was to ensure that a 
lasting framework existed to develop the 
competent skillsets needed to sustain 
an internationally competitive fi nancial 
services sector. Throughout his lifetime, his 
achievements earned him both national 
and international recognition, including the 
W.E.B Dubois Lifetime Achievement Award 
from his alma mater, Fisk University, and 
the Bahamas’ Financial Service Industry’s 
Lifetime Achievement Award. 

During his leadership of the Bahamas 
Monetary Authority, Governor Donaldson 
served as Economic Advisor to The 
Bahamas Government at the Independence 
Conference in London in 1972, and in 
the subsequent year, was made the 
Commander of the Most Excellent Order of 
the British Empire by Her Majesty, Queen 
Elizabeth II. After his tenure as Governor, he 
served notably as the Ambassador for The 
Bahamas to the United States–and later to 
Columbia and Mexico–and as Permanent 
Representative of the Organization of 
American States (OAS). Subsequently, he 
was appointed Chairman of the Securities 
Commission, and later as Chairman of the 
Council of the College of The Bahamas 
(now the University of the Bahamas). 
In the private sector, his tenure included 
Chairmanship of Commonwealth Bank, 
and he was also a member of the Board of 
Trustees of Fisk University.

BOX 3: A TRIBUTE TO MR. TIMOTHY B. DONALDSON

In honour of the former Governor, the 
Central Bank launched the T. Baswell 
Donaldson Memorial Lecture and Research 
Competition, to recognise outstanding 
research by Bahamian students on topics 
related to business, fi nance, monetary 
policy, fi scal policy, or developmental 
economics. The Annual Research Prize is 
set at $20,000. No prize was awarded in 
the fi rst year; however, honourable mention 

was given to Ms. Zemi Holland, for her 
topic, “Illegal Online Gambling and Crime.” 
The 2017 Memorial Lecture was delivered 
on June 27, 2017, by Ms. Kim Bodie, 
Executive Director of The Bahamas Institute 
of Financial Services. The Lecture refl ected 
on Governor Donaldson’s contribution to 
the development of the fi nancial services 
sector in The Bahamas.

The Offi cial Bust of T.B. Donaldson.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT AND OUTREACH
Career Promotion

During the year, members of staff participated in career 
fairs hosted by four local high schools: the Charles W 
Saunders School, St John’s College, C. V. Bethel and 
C.C. Sweeting High Schools. A total of ten schools 
visited the Bank as part of its “Schools Outreach Pro-
gramme,” which included presentations and discussions 
on the Role and Function of the Central Bank. In addi-
tion, the Bank also hosted participants of the Bahamas 
Youth Leadership Development Programme from Grand 
Bahama, and the Junior Achievement Programme. 
Through its Work Experience Programme–which allows 
high school students to work in the Bank for specifi ed 
periods of up to one week–the Bank hosted twenty-three 
students from a total of six schools. 
Providing college and university students with exposure 
to various aspects of the Bank’s operations, is anoth-
er important aspect of our outreach programme, while 
providing a potential resource pool for future employees. 
In this regard, the Bank employed approximately 16 
high school students over two four-week sessions in its 
Summer Employment Programme. The students were 
placed in various Departments and Units throughout the 
Bank. Three college students were also placed in the 
Junior Professionals Summer Programme (JPSP), which 
provides opportunities to Bahamian students entering ei-
ther their fi nal year of college or university, to participate 
in an intensive summer internship experience in some of 
the main departments of the Bank. The students select-
ed, had the opportunity to participate in the actual work 
of assigned departments; they were also mentored by a 
professional of the Bank during their stay and received 
training in various topics, designed to develop their tech-
nical and soft skills. 

Community Relations

As a key aspect of its on-going community outreach, the 
Bank continued its partnership with Friends of the Blood 
Bank and the Princess Margaret Hospital, by hosting a 
series of blood drives.

Support for the Arts

The Bank’s Art Programme is an important vehicle 
through which the skills and talents of young persons are 
honed and showcased. During the year, a total of nine 
exhibitions—including the Annual Art Exhibition—were 
held in the Art Gallery location. 
The year began with the Caribbean in Motion’s video 
(animation) exhibition, a joint initiative between the 
Central Bank and the Inter-American Development Bank 

(IDB), in February, 2017. This was followed by the 
2016 Open Category winner, Jordana Kelly’s fi rst ever 
solo exhibition, “Bugs, Blessings & Barriers.” Further, 
trilogy artists Jamaal Rolle, Allan P. Wallace, and Stefan 
Legend, staged an exhibition entitled, “Fifty Shades of 
Paint.” Afterwards, Sue Katz Lightbourn presented her 
powerful one woman exhibition, “Exposed: A Collec-
tion of Collage and Assemblage.” In addition, during the 
year, After School Music and Arts Classes (ASMAC) 
Studios, utilized the gallery space to host its 24th Annual 
Art Exhibition, once again displaying the magnifi cent 
artwork of its students. Another major highlight during 
the year, was the portrait exhibition by Duke and Lisa 
Wells, “Bright Lights & Raw Gems – Portraits from the 
Bahamian Project.” 
To further promote camaraderie and art awareness, the 
Bank held its fi rst ever “Paint & Sip” on the Great House 
historical grounds, where employees enjoyed an evening 
of creative expression through a group painting lesson. 
Staff artworks were then featured during the Bank’s 
second Annual Central Bank Staff Art Exhibition & Food 
Competition.
During 2017, the 34th Annual Open/Senior Category and 
High School/ Junior Art Competitions & Exhibitions, 
were held in October and November, respectively. Ryan 
Turnquest was selected as the overall winner of the Open 
Category, with his mixed media piece entitled, “The Peo-
ple Have Spoken.” Minolta Butler, the recipient of the 
Bank’s Staff Choice Award, was also given an honour-
able mention for her coffee painting, “A Taste of Free-
dom.” Matthew Diesuel of C.V. Bethel placed fi rst in the 
High School Competition with his work entitled, “Young 
Struggle.” Central Eleuthera High School student Malia 
Carroll (“Free of Fear”) and Queen’s College student, 
Jayda Ritchie (“Authentically Bahamian”) placed second 
and third, respectively. Ms. Ritchie also won the Gover-
nor’s Choice award and the Most Outstanding Sculpture 
award was presented to Aashlee Cartwright from C.V. 
Bethel. The Gallery year concluded with Edrin Symone-
tte’s, the 2015 Open Category winner, much anticipated 
exhibition entitled, “Island Residues.”
During the year, the Bank also bid farewell to its fi rst 
curator, Mr. Antonius Roberts, who over the past 30 
years, provided exemplary contributions and service 
through the meticulous organization of the various art 
exhibitions held in the Bank’s art gallery, and through a 
visionary advancement of the arts programme. During 
his tenure, there was a constant diverse stream of artists 
from within the community, students from the public and 
private schools and joint collaborations with the interna-
tional arena. The Bank greatly benefi tted from the rich 
experiences shared by Mr. Roberts, which along with his 
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knowledge, were valuable assets to the development of 
the Bank’s art programme. The Bank thanks him for his 
many years of stellar service.

2017 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The Bank’s fi nancial outturn is largely determined by 
developments relating to the external reserves, which are 
infl uenced by the performance of the real sector, interest 
rates and Government’s external borrowings. 
The Bank’s fi nancial statements for the year ended 31st

December 2017, along with comparable fi gures for 2016, 
are presented on pages 45 to 116 of this report. 
In 2017, the Bank’s total assets grew by $202.2 million 
(12.0%) to $1,883.8 million. External assets–which 
accounted for a higher 75.2% of the total–fi rmed by 
$513.4 million (56.8%) to $1,417.4 million, bolstered 
by proceeds from the Government’s foreign currency 
borrowing, and to a lesser extent, net foreign currency 
purchases from real sector activities. A disaggregation 
of the various components, showed that cash and depos-
it balances more than doubled to $698.5 million, from 
$254.8 million in 2016. Further, the Bank’s holdings of 
marketable securities fi rmed by $64.2 million (11.6%) 
to $614.7 million. Similarly, allocations from the IMF 
recorded growth, as Special Drawing Rights (SDRs) and 
the Reserve Tranche advanced by $4.1 million (5.5%) 
and $1.6 million (6.2%) to $76.8 million and $27.5 mil-
lion, respectively. 
The Bank’s domestic assets decreased sharply by $311.3 
million (40.0%) to $466.3 million, attributed mainly to 

a decline in holdings of short-term Government debt. In 
this regard, investments in Treasury bills fell sharply by 
$216.7 million (96.7%) to a mere $7.2 million, due main-
ly to the conversion of two tranches of T-bills into bonds 
via swaps, sales to the private sector and maturities, 
which reduced the outstanding amount held by the Bank. 
In addition, the Bahamas Government Registered Stock 

(BGRS) portfolio contracted by $98.1 million (26.3%) to 
$274.5 million, while advances to the Government sta-
bilized at $135.4 million. The remaining domestic assets 
rose by a combined $3.7 million (8.1%) to $49.4 million. 
With regard to liabilities, the demand balances at the 
Bank increased by $180.2 million (13.4%) to $1,521.3 
million. Underlying this outturn was a signifi cant rise 
in the unremunerated deposits of commercial banks by 
$144.9 million (16.7%) to $1,011.2 million, refl ecting 
Government’s use of proceeds from its external bor-
rowings to reduce outstanding short-term debt. Further, 
currency in circulation advanced by $12.8 million (3.0%) 
to $438.5 million, while Government and related agency 
deposits expanded by $16.3 million (58.4%) to $44.2 
million. In addition, accounts payable fi rmed by almost 
two-fold to $11.1 million from $5.9 million, while the 
ICM-related liabilities grew by $0.9 million (11.5%) to 
$8.7 million. 
The Bank’s earnings increased marginally by $0.2 
million (0.5%) to $41.7 million in 2017, as the interest 
income from investment sources–which represented 
a combined 93.8% of the total–rose by $4.4 million 
(12.6%) to $39.1 million. In particular, interest on foreign 
investments fi rmed by $2.9 million (18.1%), and earnings 
from the domestic component advanced by $1.6 million 
(9.1%). Further, interest on loans held steady at $1.1 
million, while income from other miscellaneous sources 
declined by $3.9 million (52.7%) to $3.5 million.

Total expenses increased by $1.4 million (4.7%) to $31.0 
million in 2017, as the $1.6 million (8.6%) growth in 
staff costs, overshadowed the reduction in depreciation 
expenses by $0.2 million (8.3%), while general & admin-
istrative costs held steady at $8.7 million.
As a result of these developments, the Bank recorded 
total comprehensive income of $11.9 million–a decrease 
of $1.2 million (9.2%) over 2016.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENTS

The global economy continued to expand at a modest 
pace of 3.7% in 2017, exceeding the 3.2% gain in the 
prior year. Increased exports sustained growth in Europe 
and Asia, while robust consumer demand supported the 
strengthening in the United States’ market. As a result of 
these developments, labour market conditions continued 
to improve among the major economies. Infl ationary 
pressures remained well contained; although continued 
supply-restricted increases in global oil prices, resulted in 
higher fuel-related costs. Given the improving economic 
conditions and relatively low levels of infl ation, the major 
central banks either tightened or maintained their accom-
modative monetary policy measures over the review year. 
Real GDP growth in the United States quickened to 
2.3%, from 1.5% in the prior year, driven largely by gains 
in personal consumption expenditure, non-residential 
fi xed investments and exports. Similarly, the euro area’s 
economy strengthened by 2.3% in 2017, outpacing the 
1.8% advance recorded in the previous year, owing in 
part to higher private consumption and investment, while 
the United Kingdom’s expansion narrowed slightly by 
10 basis points to 1.8%, as growth in the services and 
construction sectors waned. In Asia, following the 6.7% 
rise in 2016, China’s economy expanded at the faster 
pace of 6.9% over the review period–its strongest annual 
growth in seven years–as an increase in global demand 
for high-end electronic products bolstered the gains in ex-
ports. In addition, Japan’s annual output growth advanced 
by 80 basis points to 1.7%, supported by higher exports 
of electronics and automobiles–particularly to its major 
trading partners.
Global labour market conditions continued to improve 
during 2017. In the United States, the unemployment rate 
decreased by 50 basis points to 4.4%, with notable job 
gains in the health care, construction and manufacturing 
sectors. In addition, the United Kingdom’s jobless rate 
decreased by 50 basis points to a similar 4.4% in 2017, 
with the total number of employed persons fi rming by an 
estimated 321,000 over the prior year. Amid improving 
economic conditions, particularly in the southern mem-
ber states, the euro area’s unemployment rate fell by 90 
basis points to 9.6% in December–the lowest level since 
January 2009. Further, the major economies in Asia 

OOOOUR ENVIRONMENNNNTTT
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sustained their full employment levels, as Japan’s jobless 
rate contracted by 30 basis points to 2.8%–its lowest level 
since 1994–while China’s unemployment rate declined 
by 12 basis points to a 15-year low of 3.9%.
Global price developments refl ected the modest fi rming 
in energy costs, although average infl ation rates remained 
relatively subdued. In the United States, annual infl ation 
steadied at 2.1%, as the rise in energy and food prices was 
offset by reductions in medical care and housing costs. 
Nevertheless, infl ation in the United Kingdom quick-
ened to 3.0% from 1.6% in the prior year, attributed to 
increases in miscellaneous goods & services, clothing & 
footwear, furniture & household equipment and alcoholic 
beverages & tobacco. Similarly, the euro area’s annual 
infl ation rate fi rmed by 30 basis points to 1.4%, largely 
associated with higher costs for fuel. In addition, Japan’s 
infl ation rate accelerated by 70 basis points to 1.0%, led 
by gains in fuel, light and water charges. In contrast, 
China’s infl ation rate decreased to 1.8%, from 2.1% in 
the prior period, refl ecting declines in food costs.
In line with the improvement in economic conditions, the 
prices of primary commodities trended generally up-
wards during 2017. Specifi cally, average crude oil prices 
strengthened by 20.1% to US$54.99 per barrel over the 
year, as production cuts by several major OPEC and non-
OPEC producers constrained supply, while the harsh win-
ter conditions led to a rise in heating oil demand. Further, 
on a point-to-point basis, average costs advanced by 
17.2% to US$66.60 per barrel at end-December, 2017, in 
comparison to the prior year. In the precious metal mar-
kets, the average cost of gold rose by 1.4% to $1,267.26 
per troy ounce, while the average price of silver edged-up 
by 0.4% to $17.20 per troy ounce.
Refl ecting in part the ongoing uncertainty regarding the 
ability of the new United States administration to im-
plement its economic agenda, the US dollar depreciated 
against all the major currencies during the year. In par-
ticular, the dollar weakened by 12.4% vis-à-vis the euro, 

to €0.83 and by 8.6% relative to the British Pound, to 
£0.74. Similarly, the dollar declined versus the Canadian 
dollar and the Chinese renminbi, by 6.5% to CAD$1.26 
and by 6.4% to CNY6.51, respectively. More muted 
decreases were posted against the Swiss Franc and the 
Japanese Yen, of 4.5% to CHF0.97 and 3.7% to ¥112.69. 
Broad-based gains were registered in the major stock 
markets over the course of 2017, supported by tax cut 
measures in the United States and sustained global 
economic growth. In the United States, the Dow Jones 
Industrial Average (DJIA) and the S&P 500 strengthened 
by 25.1% and 19.4%, respectively. European bourses 
also moved upwards, with France’s CAC 40 increas-
ing by 9.3%, while Germany’s DAX and the United 
Kingdom’s FTSE 100 rose by 9.1% and 7.6%, respective-
ly. Similarly, the Asian markets posted material gains, as 
Japan’s Nikkei 225 and China’s SE composite fi rmed by 
19.1% and 6.6%, respectively.
The major economies experienced mixed trends in their 
external trade balances in 2017. In the United States, the 
trade defi cit widened by $63.6 billion (12.6%) to $568.4 
billion, as the 6.9% rise in imports—of mainly industrial 
supplies, capital and consumer goods—outstripped export 
growth of 5.6%. Further, the euro area’s trade surplus 
contracted by €27.1 billion (10.2%) to €238.1 billion, 
attributed to a 9.7% increase in imports, which countered 
the 7.1% gain in exports. In Japan, the trade surplus de-
clined by 25.2% to ¥3.0 billion, as the 11.8% expansion 
in exports, was outweighed by the 14.0% rise in goods 
purchased from abroad. Similarly, China’s trade surplus 
decreased by US$86.6 billion (17.0%) to US$422.5 bil-
lion, underpinned by a 15.9% rise in imports, which out-
paced the 7.9% growth in exports. Conversely, refl ecting 
an 11.3% expansion in exports of primarily machinery, 
cars and medical products, which exceeded the 9.3% gain 
in imports, the United Kingdom’s trade defi cit narrowed 
by £7.0 billion to £33.7 billion in 2017.
In the context of the improving economic conditions and 
relatively benign infl ationary environment, the major 
central banks either maintained or tightened their accom-
modative monetary policy stance. In the United States, 
the Federal Reserve continued with its programme geared 
towards normalizing interest rates, by increasing its target 
for the federal funds rate by 75 basis points to the 1.25%-
1.50% range by December. The central bank also reduced 
the size of its asset purchase programme by an additional 
$10.0 billion per month. Similarly, in an effort to con-
tain infl ation, the Bank of England raised its key policy 
rate by 25 basis points to 0.50%—the fi rst rate increase 
in 10 years—but sustained its £435 billion “quantitative 
easing” programme. Similarly, the European Central 
Bank (ECB) retained its key policy rates at historic lows, 



32Central Bank of The Bahamas 
2017 Annual Report

but signalled its intention to decrease the size of its asset 
purchase programme in 2018. In Asia, the People’s Bank 
of China—in an attempt to promote monetary stability 
and lower the risks to the fi nancial sector from excessive 
credit supply—raised its 7-day reverse repo rate by 50 
basis points to 2.5%. However, the Bank of Japan main-
tained its highly accommodative monetary policy stance, 
in a bid to achieve its 2.0% infl ation target.

OVERVIEW OF DOMESTIC ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENTS 

Preliminary indications are that the domestic economy 
expanded at a modest pace of 1.3% in 2017, following 
a mild 0.2% expansion registered in the prior year. This 
outturn refl ected continued growth in construction sector 
output, which benefi tted from several varied-scale foreign 
investment projects, including the multi-billion dollar 
Baha Mar development, and to a lesser extent sustained 
post-hurricane rebuilding work. However, the tourism 
sector faced challenges, due to the on-going impact of 
the weather-related loss of room capacity in the country’s 
second largest tourist market in 2016, and the passage of 
several hurricanes through the region in September 2017, 
which disrupted fl ight and cruise ship itineraries. In this 
context, employment conditions improved in November, 
over the prior year, although the seasonal increase in the 
labour force, due to the entrance of new graduates, result-
ed in a slight up-tick in the unemployment rate. Further, 
domestic infl ationary pressures remained relatively 
contained, although the pass-through effects of the recent 
uptrend in global oil prices, led to a fi rming in the rate.
The fi scal defi cit widened to $669.3 million in 
FY2016/17, from an estimated $310.4 million in the 
previous period, attributed to increased hurricane-related 
capital outlays and higher spending prior to the 2017 elec-
tions. However, the fi scal gap narrowed over the fi rst half 
of FY2017/18, as capital spending returned to trend levels 
and tax revenue expanded. At end-December, the Direct 
Charge on the Government stood at $7,177.9 million, a 
gain of $862.3 million (13.7%) over the prior year, while 
the Direct Charge to GDP ratio rose by 5.6 percentage 
points to 61.7%. Similarly, the National Debt—inclusive 
of Government guaranteed debt—increased by $831.9 
million (11.8%) to $7,882.0 million at end-2017, for an 
estimated 67.8% of GDP, up from 62.6% at end-Decem-
ber 2016. Financing for the defi cit was dominated by the 
Government’s external borrowings, the majority of which 
was obtained via a US$750 million external bond. 
Developments in the monetary sector refl ected the 
Government’s external borrowing activities, which result-
ed in robust growth in both bank liquidity and external 

reserves in 2017, as the increase in the deposit base 
contrasted with the contraction in domestic credit. As a 
consequence, at end-2017, the stock of external reserves 
was equivalent to an estimated 23.0 weeks of the current 
year’s total merchandise imports, relative to 16.5 weeks 
in 2016. In addition, the sale of a portion of one bank’s 
non-performing loan portfolio to a Government-owned 
entity, combined with ongoing debt restructuring meas-
ures and loan write-offs, resulted in banks’ credit quality 
indicators improving during the year. In contrast, the 
banks’ net income was reduced over the twelve-months 
to September, due to increased operating costs and a rise 
in loan loss provisioning. Further, the weighted average 
interest rate spread narrowed in 2017, as the decline 
in the lending rate, overshadowed the reduction in the 
deposit rate. 
In the external sector, the estimated current account 
defi cit deteriorated during 2017, in comparison to the 
previous year when signifi cant hurricane-related re-in-
surance infl ows resulted in a signifi cant improvement 
in the current transfers account. In contrast, the capital 
and fi nancial account surplus increased markedly, owing 
mainly to a sharp rise in debt-related “miscellaneous” 
investment infl ows, associated largely with Government’s 
external borrowings. Net private sector investment re-
ceipts also expanded.

REAL SECTOR
Tourism

Refl ecting the adverse effects of the hurricane-related 
reduction in hotel capacity in Grand Bahama, the coun-
try’s second largest tourist market, as well as an increase 
in competition from regional destinations, preliminary in-
dicators showed that output in the tourism sector softened 
during 2017. According to data from the Ministry of 
Tourism, total visitor arrivals contracted by 2.1% to 6.1 
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million, a turnaround from the previous year’s 2.5% gain 
(See: Table 9). Specifi cally, total air arrivals decreased 
by 4.0% to 1.3 million, following a fl at position in 2016, 
refl ecting declines in several key visitor source markets. 
Further, the dominant sea component—at 78.2% of over-
all visitors—contracted by 1.5% to 4.8 million, a reversal 
from the previous year’s 3.2% expansion. 
An analysis by fi rst port of entry, showed that the growth 
in overall arrivals to New Providence slowed to 1.2% to 
3.6 million tourists, vis-à-vis the prior year’s 9.8% ex-
pansion. This outturn refl ected a slowdown in the growth 
of the dominant sea segment to 3.2% from 13.7%, while 
air traffi c declined by 3.6%, in contrast to a slight 0.8% 
gain in the prior period. Further, refl ecting the loss of 
considerable hotel room capacity following the passage 
of Hurricane Matthew in 2016, tourist arrivals to Grand 
Bahama contracted sharply by 26.6% to 0.6 million, 
extending the 13.2% decline a year earlier, as the fall in 
air and sea traffi c accelerated to 43.8% and 23.5%, from 
21.3% and 11.6%, respectively, in the prior year. In a 
slight offset, the Family Island market fi rmed by 2.6% to 
1.9 million, a reversal from a 2.0% reduction in 2016, due 
to gains in air and sea passengers by 14.3% and 0.8%, 
vis-à-vis the previous period, when air visitors fi rmed by 
a slower 11.8% and sea arrivals fell by 3.9%.
Hotel performance indicators mirrored the trends in 
the stopover visitor segment. Preliminary data for a 
sample of large hotels in New Providence and Paradise 
Island, showed a fl at outturn for room revenue in 2017. 
Underlying this outcome was a 6.8 percentage point de-
crease in the average occupancy rate to 60.7%, while the 
average daily room rate (ADR) fell by 0.8% to $239.17.

Construction

During 2017, construction sector activity was driven 
largely by ongoing foreign investment projects, including 
work to complete the multi-billion dollar Baha Mar de-
velopment. Hurricane rebuilding work was also sustained 
during the year. However, domestically fi nanced private 
activity remained sluggish, as banks maintained their 
conservative lending stance in the face of high levels of 
non-performing mortgages. 
Refl ecting the challenges faced by the domestic sector, 
total mortgage loan disbursements for new construction 
and repairs–as reported by commercial banks, insurance 
companies and the Bahamas Mortgage Corporation–con-
tracted by 3.4% to $108.8 million, although a moderation 
from the year-earlier decline of 6.7%. This outturn was 
due to a 5.0% reduction in the residential segment to 
$102.4 million, extending the prior year’s 2.8% falloff. In 
contrast, the commercial component increased by 32.7% 
to $6.4 million, a reversal from a 51.0% decrease in 2016. 

An analysis of the more forward looking indicator–mort-
gage commitments for new buildings and repairs–sug-
gests that activity in the domestic private market is likely 
to improve over the near-term. Specifi cally, total domes-
tic mortgage commitments for new buildings and repairs, 
increased in number by 6.0% to 510 and in value by 6.7% 
to $57.6 million. Residential approvals–which represent-
ed the bulk (97.0%) of the total–rose by 5.9% to total 
507, with the associated value higher by 5.1% at $55.9 
million. Similarly, commercial commitments increased 
in number by one to three and the corresponding value by 
$0.9 million to $1.8 million.
In terms of interest rates, the average cost of a commer-
cial mortgage rose by 80 basis points, year-on-year, to 
8.7%, while the corresponding residential mortgage rate 
declined by 20 basis points to 7.6%. 

Employment

Labour market conditions improved during 2017, at-
tributed mainly to several factors including the phased 
opening of the multi-billion dollar Baha Mar resort, hurri-
cane construction recovery, and short-term stimulus from 
the hosting of a number of international cultural events. 
According to the Department of Statistics’ Labour Force 
Survey, despite some setback in the second half of 2017, 
the jobless rate fell by 1.5 percentage points to 10.1% at 
November 2017, relative to the same point a year earlier. 
Over the 12-month interval, an additional 11,345 persons 
(5.9%) were employed, outstripping the 4.1% growth in 
the labour force to 226,680. A disaggregation by major 
job centres, showed that the unemployment rate in the 
dominant New Providence market–which accounted for 
an estimated 70.2% of the labour force–decreased over 
the year by 2.3 percentage points to 10.6%. In addition, 
the jobless rate for Grand Bahama narrowed by 1.2 per-
centage points to 12.1% and for Abaco by 0.5 percentage 
points to 8.6% at November 2017. At the end of the pe-
riod, the unemployment rate for females stood at 11.1%, 
compared with 9.2% for males.
Prices

Refl ecting mainly the sustained increase in global oil 
prices, the average Retail Price Index for The Bahamas 
rose by 1.5% in 2017, in contrast to a 0.4% decline a year 
earlier. Refl ecting this outturn, average costs increased 
for housing, water, gas, electricity & other fuels–the most 
heavily weighted item on the index–by 3.7%, restaurant 
& hotels, by 2.3% and transport, by 2.0%, after register-
ing respective declines of 1.1%, 1.3% and 4.0%, a year 
earlier. In addition, average price accelerations were 
recorded for communication, by 1.6 percentage points to 
3.4%, alcoholic beverages, tobacco & narcotics, by 0.8 
percentage points to 1.6% and recreation & culture, by 
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0.8 percentage points to 1.3%. Further, the reduction in 
average costs for food & non-alcoholic beverages slowed 
to 0.1% from 0.9% in the prior year. In contrast, the 
infl ation rate tapered for health, by 3.0 percentage points 
to 0.8%. In addition, average prices fell for education, by 
0.2%, furnishing, household equipment & routine main-
tenance, by 1.4%, other” goods & services, by 0.7% and 
clothing & footwear, by 1.2%, following respective gains 
of 5.6%, 1.3%, 0.9% and 0.7% in the previous year.
The increase in international oil prices fed through to the 
domestic energy market during the year. As a result, the 
average annual prices of gasoline and diesel, fi rmed by 
8.9% and 10.6%, to $4.26 and $3.85 per gallon, respec-
tively, vis-à-vis declines of 9.8% and 10.6% recorded in 
2016.

FISCAL OPERATIONS
FY2016/17 Performance

During FY2016/17, the overall defi cit more than doubled 
to $669.3 million, from $310.4 million in the preceding 
period (See: Table 10). This was signifi cantly higher 

than the targeted defi cit of $97.6 million, owing in part 
to higher than planned capital spending and disrupted 
revenue collections following the passage of Hurricane 
Matthew. In terms of the components, total expenditures 
fi rmed by $489.9 million (21.9%) to $2,729.9 million–
exceeding projected outfl ows by $463.5 million (20.4%)–
amid increased hurricane and election-related outlays. In 
contrast, aggregate total revenue increased by $131.0 mil-
lion (6.8%) to $2,060.5 million; although $108.3 million 
(5.0%) lower than estimated.

Revenue
Tax revenue–at 89.1% of total collections–grew by 
9.6% ($160.4 million) to $1,836.6 million, but was 
approximately 6.7% lower than anticipated. Receipts 
from taxes on international trade & transactions rose by 
$76.3 million (15.1%) to $582.7 million, as excise and 
import taxes fi rmed by $57.6 million (25.1%) and $22.4 
million (8.5%), respectively. In addition, business and 
professional license fees moved higher by $42.6 million 
(29.2%) to $188.8 million, led by timing-related gains 
in “other” general license fees. In addition, buoyed by 
efforts to improve administration and reduce outstand-
ing arrears, property tax collections increased by $16.8 
million (16.2%) to $120.6 million. Further, non-trade 
stamp taxes advanced by $12.2 million (12.2%) to $112.2 
million, due mainly to gains from fi nancial sector trans-
actions, while value-added taxes (VAT) fi rmed by $10.1 
million (1.6%) to $638.0 million. More modest gains 
were noted for selective taxes on services, by $1.5 million 
(5.7%) to $28.5 million and motor vehicle taxes by $0.8 
million (2.5%), to $31.1 million. 
In contrast, non-tax receipts decreased by $29.3 million 
(11.6%) to $223.9 million over the prior year, resulting in 
a 13.0% ($25.7 million) shortfall when compared to the 
budgeted amount. Largely contributing to this develop-
ment was a $46.0 million (21.8%) decline in proceeds 
from fi nes, forfeits & administrative fees, to $164.7 
million, compared to the prior year, when license fees 

TABLE 10:  Fiscal Indicators (B$ Millions)

 FY2014/15 FY2015/16 FY2016/17 FY2017/18 

  Actual Actual Actual Approved Preliminary1

    Estimates  Estimates
Government Revenue 1,701.5 1,929.6 2,060.5 2,139.0 878.5
 as % of GDP 15.4 17.2 18.0 17.9 7.3
Government Expenditure  2,083.5 2,240.0 2,729.9 2,460.4 1,074.1
 as % of GDP 18.9 19.9 23.8 20.6 9.0
Surplus/(Defi cit) (382.0) (310.4) (669.3) (321.3) (195.6)
 as % of GDP  (3.5)  (2.8)  (5.8) (2.7)  (1.6)
      
SOURCE:  Ministry of Finance      
Compiled according to the IMF's Government Finance Statistics Format.
1 July - December, 2017

TABLE 9:  Selected Economic Indicators

2015 2016 2017
 (% Change)
   
Real GDP* (3.1) 0.2  1.3 
Unemployment Rate (Nov.) 14.8  11.6  10.1 
Occupied Hotel Room Nights (2.3) N/A N/A
Hotel Occupancy (%) 58.0  N/A N/A
Total Arrivals (3.3) 2.5  (2.1)
Mortgage Disbursements 45.9  (3.4) (0.4)
Infl ation 1.9  (0.4) 1.5 
National Debt/GDP* Ratio (%) 59.3 62.6 67.8

SOURCE:  Central Bank of The Bahamas and the Ministry of Tourism  
*2017 GDP estimates taken from the IMF’s April 2018 forecast

 N/A Not available
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from the award of a cellular license were received, while 
revenue from the sale of Government property declined 
by $1.2 million to $0.4 million. In a slight offset, income 
from other “miscellaneous” sources increased by $17.1 
million (48.0%) to $52.6 million, while the intake from 
public enterprises rose by $0.8 million (16.3%) to $6.0 
million. Further, capital revenue remained at negligible 
levels over the review period.

Expenditure
Current expenditure, which comprised the bulk (85.7%) 
of total outlays, fi rmed by $334.6 million (16.7%) to 
$2,339.7 million–surpassing the budgetary estimate by 
$315.3 million (15.6%). Consumption outlays increased 
by $248.0 million (24.9%) to $1,243.6 million, as 
purchases of goods & services fi rmed by $208.2 mil-
lion (63.0%), refl ecting mainly higher costs for rent, 
communication & utilities, while outlays to cover the 
implementation of National Health Insurance (NHI), led 
to elevated contractual service payments. In addition, 
personal emoluments moved higher by $39.8 million 
(6.0%) to $705.1 million, amid broad-based promotions 
within the armed services. Similarly, transfer payments 
rose by $86.6 million (8.6%) to $1,096.1 million, as 
subsidies & transfers grew by $94.9 million (12.9%) to 
$829.4 million. A breakdown of the components showed 
that transfers to public corporations and provisions for 
contingencies advanced by $81.6 million (69.8%) to 
$198.5 million. Gains were also recorded for general 
subsidies by $38.9 million (10.4%) to $413.3 million, 
amid higher payments for health-related entities, while 
transfers to non-fi nancial public enterprises increased 
by $1.3 million (8.1%). In contrast, decreases occurred 
for transfers to non-profi t institutions ($9.5 million), 
households ($8.8 million), and transfers abroad ($8.6 
million). In addition, interest payments contracted by 
$8.3 million (3.0%) to $266.7 million, as the internal 
component fell by $13.7 million (7.1%) to $178.4 mil-
lion, overshadowing the $5.4 million (6.5%) increase in 
external payments. 
Capital spending advanced by more than two-thirds, to 
$390.2 million, from $231.3 million in the prior peri-
od–overshooting the budget forecast by $148.1 million 
(61.2%). Capital formation expanded by $99.1 million 
(57.3%) to $272.0 million, refl ecting in part infrastructure 
repairs following the passage of Hurricane Matthew. In 
addition, outlays for the acquisition of assets more than 
doubled to $118.2 million, from $58.4 million, due to a 
$39.2 million (90.0%) rise in the “other” assets acquisi-
tions, which included the purchase of new defence force 
vessels, and a $20.0 million rise in equity purchases in a 
public/private partnership.

Financing
Financing for the defi cit was obtained primarily from do-
mestic sources, which included long-term bonds ($545.0 
million), Treasury bills ($337.7 million), and advances 
($249.5 million), related to a special hurricane relief 
loan. In addition, external borrowings, in the form of loan 
drawdowns, amounted to $43.3 million. Debt repayments 
for the period totalled $595.1 million, the bulk of which 
($557.1 million), was used to retire Bahamian dollar 
obligations.

First Six Months of FY2017/18

Over the fi rst half of FY2017/18, the Government’s over-
all defi cit narrowed by $110.0 million (36.0%) to $195.6 
million, when compared to the corresponding period of 
the previous year. This outturn refl ected an $83.3 million 
(7.2%) decrease in aggregate spending to $1,074.1 mil-
lion, combined with a $26.7 million (3.1%) increase in 
total revenues to $878.5 million.
Expenditure
The falloff in aggregate expenditure refl ected mainly a 
halving of capital outlays to $75.8 million, from $152.5 
million in the prior period, as the expenditure component 
returned to trend levels after a hurricane-related increase 
in spending. Specifi cally, infrastructure outlays were 
reduced by $61.8 million (48.6%) to $65.3 million, as 
spending recovered after relatively higher outlays related 
to coastal protection, and building and dock repairs in the 
previous period. In addition, asset acquisitions contracted 
by $14.9 million (58.5%) to $10.6 million, as the other 
“miscellaneous” category fell to $2.5 million from $20.4 
million in the prior period,  when several Defense Force 
vessels were purchased. Further, land acquisitions de-
creased to negligible levels from $4.5 million in the com-
parative period of FY2016/17. These reductions over-
shadowed a $7.5 million expansion in fi nancial assets, 
to $8.0 million, from $0.5 million, as the Government 
acquired equity positions in a number of private/public 
partnerships.
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Current expenditures fell by $6.5 million (0.7%) to 
$998.3 million over the six-month period, due primarily 
to a $31.9 million (6.5%) contraction in transfer payments 
to $456.4 million. Specifi cally, subsidies & other trans-
fers fell by $41.1 million (11.5%), largely refl ecting a re-
duction in subsidies for the NHI Scheme, after initial ex-
penditures in preparation for the launch of the programme 
in the prior period. In a slight offset, outlays to the Public 
Hospital Authority (PHA) expanded. Decreases were also 
posted for transfers to public corporations & provisions 
for contingencies ($9.7 million), transfers to non-fi nancial 
public enterprises ($5.9 million), transfers abroad ($2.2 
million) and transfers to non-profi t institutions ($0.6 mil-
lion). Further, refl ecting the rising level of Government 
debt, interest payments fi rmed by $9.2 million (7.1%) to 
$139.3 million, owing to gains in both the internal and 
external components, by $4.5 million (5.3%), and by $4.7 
million (10.6%), respectively. In contrast, consumption 
spending rose by $25.3 million (4.9%) to $541.9 million, 
explained by respective increases in personal emoluments 
and purchases of goods & services by $21.0 million 
(6.0%) and $4.3 million (2.6%).

Revenue
Over the review period, tax revenues rose by $20.8 
million (2.7%) to $782.7 million. An analysis of the 
sub-components, showed that the most signifi cant in-
crease occurred for VAT receipts, by $9.9 million (3.3%) 
to $312.0 million. In addition, gains were recorded for 
motor vehicle taxes, by $6.1 million (63.9%) to $15.5 
million and business and professional fees, by $5.3 mil-
lion (34.3%) to $20.7 million. Similarly, selective taxes 
on services expanded by $5.0 million (51.5%), owing to 
a timing-related increase in gaming tax collections. In 
addition, receipts from property taxes fi rmed by $0.6 mil-
lion (1.8%) to $31.8 million. Providing some offset, other 
“unallocated” taxes decreased by $2.6 million (12.5%) to 
$18.6 million, while international trade taxes fell by $2.3 
million (0.9%) to $256.4 million, as import tax reductions 
outpaced gains in excise taxes on trade. More muted de-
creases were recorded for non-trade related stamp taxes, 
by $0.5 million (1.0%) to $53.8 million, and departure 
taxes, by $0.4 million (0.7%) to $59.5 million. 
Non-tax receipts grew by $5.9 million (6.6%) to $95.8 
million, as income from fi nes, forfeits & administrative 
fees, fi rmed by $4.8 million (6.8%), owing to a rise in 
immigration fee payments. In addition, receipts from the 
sale of Government property advanced to $1.3 million, 
from $0.4 million in the prior period.

Financing
Financing for the Government’s operations, featured a 
sizeable rollover of bridging facilities into longer-term 

debt. Borrowing proceeds included $558.4 million in 
foreign currency loans, which preceded and was partially 
refi nanced by the $750.0 million international bond is-
sued near the end of the period. Gross domestic debt pro-
ceeds included locally issued long–term bonds ($307.0 
million), loans from commercial banks ($14.0 million), 
and net Treasury bill issuances ($9.3 million). Driven by 
refi nancing operations, debt repayments totalled $1,025.7 
million, evenly distributed between external obligations 
of $472.7 million (46.1%)–mostly short-term loan repay-
ments–and Bahamian dollar obligations of $553.0 million 
(53.9%).

National Debt 
During 2017, the Government’s Direct Charge expanded 
by $862.3 million (13.7%), year-on-year, to $7,177.9 mil-
lion. At end-December, the ratio of the Direct Charge to 
GDP stood at an estimated 61.7%, a gain of 5.6 percent-
age points over the prior year (See: Table 11). Bahamian 
dollar denominated debt–at 63.6% of the total–decreased 
by $6.2 million (0.1%) to $4,563.9 million. In contrast, 
foreign currency claims expanded by $868.5 million 
(49.8%) to $2,614.0 million. An analysis by holder, 
showed that the majority of the Bahamian-dollar debt 
was held by commercial banks (43.3%), followed by the 
private sector (33.8%) and public corporations (13.2%). 
Smaller shares were held by the Central Bank (9.1%), and 
other local fi nancial institutions (0.6%).
Government’s contingent liabilities contracted by $30.4 
million (4.1%) to $704.2 million, largely refl ecting 
reductions in the guaranteed allocations of a few public 
entities. As a result, the National Debt–which includes 
contingent liabilities–grew by $831.9 million (11.8%) to 

Table 11:  Debt Indicators (B$ Millions)   
 
 2015  p 2016p 2017p

A. External Debt  2,175.8   2,373.0   3,231.7 
  as % of GDP*  19.4   21.1   27.8 
B. Internal F/C Debt  398.2   273.8   250.4 
  as % of GDP*  3.5   2.4   2.2 
C. Total F/C Debt  2,574.0   2,646.8   3,482.0 
  as % of GDP*  22.9   23.5   29.9 
D. Debt Service Ratio1  5.4   9.9   7.3 
   
E. Direct Charge  5,904.6   6,315.6   7,177.9 
  as % of GDP*  52.5   56.1   61.7 
F. National Debt  6,659.9   7,050.2   7,882.0 
  as % of GDP*  59.3   62.6   67.8 

 
SOURCE:  Treasury Accounts, Treasury Statistical Printouts and Public 
Corporations’ Quarterly Report 
*2017 GDP estimates taken from the IMF’s April 2018 forecast
1 Excludes refi nancing activities
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$7,882.0 million at the end of 2017, outstripping the prior 
year’s increase of $390.3 million (5.9%). Similarly, the 
National Debt to GDP ratio rose by 5.2 percentage points 
to 67.8%, after a 3.3 percentage point increase to 62.6% 
in 2016.

Foreign Currency Debt
Public sector foreign currency debt increased by $835.3 
million (31.6%) to $3,482.0 million during 2017, as new 
drawings–some subsequently refi nanced–rose to $1,345.5 
million from $282.3 million, outpacing the $352.2 million 
rise in amortization payments to $545.7 million. These 
culminated in an $868.5 million (49.8%) growth in the 
Government’s debt obligations–which accounted for 
75.1% of the aggregate–to $2,614.0 million; however, the 
public corporations’ segment contracted by $33.2 million 
(3.7%) to $868.0 million.
Refl ecting mainly the repayment of short-term loans 
following the receipt of proceeds from the external bond, 
foreign currency debt service payments more than doubled 
to $698.6 million, from 2016’s $337.3 million. In terms 
of the components, Government debt service payments 
expanded by $415.4 million to $586.0 million, while the 

public corporations’ segment fell by $54.1 million (32.5%) 
to $112.6 million. Net of the short-term loan repayments, 
the debt service ratio decreased by 2.6 percentage points 
to 7.3%, contrasting with 2016’s 4.5 percentage point ex-
pansion. Similarly, the Government’s debt-service to total 
revenue ratio decreased by 2.5 percentage points to 6.5%, a 
reversal from a 3.7 percentage-point increase in 2016. 
An analysis by creditor profi le, showed that the majority of 
the foreign currency debt was held by private capital mar-
kets’ investors (47.4%), followed by non-resident fi nancial 
institutions (34.2%), multilateral institutions (8.1%), banks 
(7.7%), and bilateral agencies (2.6%). At end-December, 
the average maturity of the foreign currency debt stood 
at 11.0 years, down from 12.3 years posted in 2016. By 
currency, the bulk of the debt (84.7%), was denominated in 
US dollars, with the euro, Swiss Franc and Chinese Yuan, 
accounting for smaller proportions, of 6.8%, 5.8% and 
2.6%, respectively.

MONEY, CREDIT AND INTEREST RATES
Monetary Sector
Buoyed by the Government’s external borrowing activi-
ties, monetary developments during 2017 featured robust 
growth in both bank liquidity and external reserves, with 
the expansion in the deposit base, contrasting with the re-
duction in domestic credit. Further, banks’ credit quality 
indicators improved signifi cantly, refl ecting mainly the 
transfer of a portion of one entity’s non-performing loans 
to a Government-owned special purpose vehicle (SPV), 
combined with ongoing debt restructuring measures 
and loan write-offs. In contrast, banks’ overall profi ta-
bility contracted over the twelve months to September, 
as gains in operational costs and loan loss provisions, 
overshadowed the rise in other “miscellaneous” income. 
In addition, the weighted average interest rate spread 
declined, as the fall in the average lending rate, eclipsed 
the reduction in the corresponding deposit rate.
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Liquidity
Average net free cash balances—a narrow measure of 
liquidity—expanded by $89.4 million (13.7%) to $741.2 
million, compared to a gain of $198.0 million (43.6%) in 
the prior year. A trend analysis indicated that balances av-
eraged $689.2 million over the fi rst six-months, declining 
to a low of $662.3 million in April. After reaching a peak 
of $860.3 million in October, excess reserves declined 
slightly, to close the year at $819.2 million. This equated 
to a higher 12.3% of Bahamian dollar deposits, compared 
with 11.5% in the prior year. 
Domestic banks’ broader measure of liquidity–which in-
cludes Government securities holdings–posted an average 
monthly surplus of $1,603.3 million, an 8.7% gain over 
the previous year. Liquid assets declined over the fi rst 
fi ve months of 2017, reaching a low of $1,464.8 million 
in April, before peaking at $1,841.9 million in November. 
At year-end, balances stood at $1,825.9 million, a gain 
of 23.3% over the 12-month period, in comparison to 
a 12.5% advance in the prior year. Closing balances 
exceeded the statutory requirement by 161.7%, vis-à-vis 
134.8% in 2016. 

Money Supply
Growth in the overall money supply 
(M3) slowed to $107.2 million (1.5%) 
in 2017, from $556.3 million (8.7%) 
in the prior year, for an aggregate 
stock of $7,037.3 million. A break-
down of the various components, 
showed that accretions to narrow 
money (M1) moderated sharply to 
$193.4 million (7.9%), from $389.4 
million (18.8%) in 2016. Notably, 
gains in demand deposits narrowed 
to $181.4 million (8.3%) and growth 
in currency in circulation tapered to 
$12.1 million (4.3%). 
Similarly, the expansion in broad 
money (M2) slackened to $140.7 
million (2.1%), from $436.5 million 
(7.1%) in the prior period. In par-
ticular, accretions to savings balanc-
es waned to $75.6 million (5.8%), 
from $147.3 million (12.8%) in the 
previous year, while the reduction in 
fi xed balances quickened to $128.4 
million (4.5%), from $100.2 million 
(3.4%) in 2016. In addition, foreign 
currency deposits fell by $33.5 mil-
lion (10.9%), after a $119.8 million 
(63.8%) increase in 2016, when 

re-insurance receipts related to Hurricane Matthew and 
arrears payments for a major foreign investment project, 
were received.
In terms of the composition, Bahamian dollar fi xed 
deposits represented the largest share of M3, at 38.9%, 
followed by demand (33.5%) and savings (19.5%) bal-
ances. Currency in active circulation and foreign currency 
deposits comprised smaller shares, of 4.2% and 3.9%, 
respectively.

Domestic Credit
During 2017, domestic credit to banks contracted, after 
the Government used foreign currency borrowings to 
reduce local debt, while asset sales led to a fall in claims 
on the private sector. 
In comparison to growth of $162.4 million (1.8%) in 
2016, total domestic credit declined by $284.5 mil-
lion (3.1%), with 95.6% of the funding denominated 
in Bahamian dollars. Specifi cally, net claims on the 
Government decreased by $162.7 million (6.4%), a 
turnaround from a signifi cant increase of $353.4 million 
(16.1%) in 2016 (See: Table 12), when hurricane-re-
covery fi nancing was sourced from several commercial 

TABLE 12:  Flow of Bank Credit (B$ Millions)

Outstanding Absolute   Outstanding

 as at  Changes  as at

 2015 2016 2017 2017

Destination    
Government (net)  2,198.0   353.4   (162.7)  2,388.7 
 Central Bank  493.7   222.9   (320.8)  395.8 
 Domestic Banks  1,704.3   130.5   158.1   1,992.9 
Rest of Public Sector  468.3   (62.0)  66.2   472.5 
 Central Bank  8.9   -     (0.9)  8.0 
 Domestic Banks  459.4   (62.0)  67.1   464.5 
Private Sector  6,299.8   (129.0)  (187.9)  5,982.9 
 Domestic Banks  6,299.8   (129.0)  (187.9)  5,982.9 
  Consumer  2,281.3   90.1   (49.1)  2,322.3 
  Mortgages  2,867.3   (150.4)  (12.4)  2,704.5 
  Other Loans  1,151.2   (68.7)  (126.4)  956.1 
 

Financing    
Liabilities (Net of Government)  6,373.0   556.3   107.2   7,037.3 
 Currency  246.6   33.9   12.1   292.6 
 Total Deposit liabilities  6,127.2   522.4   95.1   6,744.7 
 Demand deposits  1,977.5   448.5   153.4   2,579.4 
 Savings deposits  1,162.2   153.0   75.3   1,390.5 
 Fixed Deposits  2,987.5   (79.1)  (133.5)  2,774.8 
International reserves  811.9   92.1   513.4   1,417.4 
Other net external liabilities  (531.7)  306.3   (26.4)  (251.8)
 Capital and surplus  2,651.2   109.0   110.0   2,870.2 
 Other (net)  221.3   (104.5)  (14.7)  102.1 

SOURCE:   Central Bank of The Bahamas    
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banks. In contrast, credit to the rest of the public sector 
grew by $66.2 million (16.3%), to reverse last year’s 
$62.0 million (13.2%) decline, as one entity issued 
new debt securities to fi nance its purchase of additional 
non-performing loans. 
Credit to the private sector declined further by $187.9 
million (3.1%), outpacing the prior year’s  $129.0 mil-
lion (2.0%) falloff, due in part to the transfer of a portion 
of one entity’s non-performing loan portfolio to the 
Government-owned SPV. An analysis by sector, showed 
that the dominant personal loans category—representing 
81.8% of the total—declined by $62.4 million (1.2%), 
extending the $58.8 million (1.1%) decrease noted in the 
prior year. Further, signifi cant reductions were recorded 
for construction ($80.2 million), entertainment & cater-
ing ($25.0 million), professional & other services ($15.6 
million), “miscellaneous” purposes ($13.5 million), 
fi sheries ($7.7 million), transport ($6.4 million) and 
tourism ($3.0 million), with declines of less than $1.0 
million registered for private fi nancial institutions and 
agriculture. These contrasted with overall credit growth 
noted for distribution ($32.1 million) and manufacturing 
($11.6 million) and to a lesser extent mining & quarrying 
($0.04 million).
A further breakdown of personal loan activity, indicated 
that the falloff was led by a decrease in consumer loans 
by $49.1 million (2.1%), a turnaround from the previ-
ous year’s expansion of $90.2 million (4.0%). Further, 
the overdraft segment fell by $0.5 million, following a 
gain of similar magnitude in 2016. In a slight offset, the 
decline in housing loans slowed markedly to $12.8 mil-
lion (0.5%), from $148.7 million (5.2%) last year, when 
several entities sold off portions of their NPLs. 
A disaggregation of the consumer credit component, 
revealed net repayments for debt consolidation ($33.5 
million), land purchases ($17.1 million), private cars 
($12.2 million), home improvement ($8.1 million), credit 
cards ($1.3 million) and medical ($0.8 million). However, 
net lending increased signifi cantly for miscellaneous 
purposes by $18.4 million and travel, by $4.3 million, 
while more modest gains of less than $1.0 million were 
posted for education, furnishings & domestic appliances, 
commercial vehicles and taxis & rented cars.

Interest Rates
During 2017, the weighted average interest rate spread on 
domestic banks’ loans and deposits narrowed by 47 basis 
points to 10.78 percentage points, as the 74 basis point 
decrease in the average loan rate to 11.75%, outstripped 
the 27 basis point fall in the deposit rate to 0.97%. 
In terms of lending, the average commercial mortgage 
and overdraft rates declined by 104 and 50 basis points, to 

6.83% and 10.62%, respectively. Similarly, the respective 
average rates for residential and consumer loans declined 
by 45 and 42 basis points, to 5.76% and 13.61%. 
In the context of the persistent liquidity overhang, de-
clines were registered across all deposit categories, as the 
average rate on savings balances fell by 9 basis points 
to 0.72%, while the average range on fi xed maturities 
narrowed to 0.64%-1.61%, from 0.97%-1.87% in 2016. 
Similarly, the average rate on demand balances fell mar-
ginally by 1 basis point to 0.27%.
In other interest rate developments, the average 90-day 
Treasury bill rate increased by 19 basis points to 1.83%. 
The Central Bank’s Discount rate was maintained at 
4.00%, after a downward 50 basis point adjustment in 
December 2016; however, the corresponding commercial 
bank Prime rate, was lowered by 50 basis points to 4.25% 
in January 2017.

Net Foreign Assets
Refl ecting an expansion in the Central Bank’s net inter-
national reserves, the banking system’s net foreign assets 
rose sharply by $487.1 million (71.8%) to $1,165.6 mil-
lion during 2017, extending the $398.3 million (142.1%) 
expansion in the previous year. In addition, commercial 
banks’ net foreign liabilities grew by $26.4 million 
(11.7%) to $251.8 million, following a $306.3 million 
(57.6%) reduction in 2016.
During the year, the Central Bank’s external reserves 
increased by $513.4 million (56.8%) to $1,417.4 mil-
lion, exceeding the $92.0 million (11.3%) gain in 2016. 
This outturn was associated primarily with the receipt of 
net proceeds from the Government’s external borrow-
ings and, to a smaller extent, infl ows from real sector 
activities, related to tourism and foreign investments. 
An analysis of the monthly trends showed that external 
reserves fl uctuated over the fi rst half of the year, aver-
aging $941.0 million, before falling to a low of $893.4 
million in July. However, external balances were buffeted 
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by Government’s short-term loans and subsequently by 
the receipt of the external bond proceeds, resulting in 
balances peaking at $1,428.1 million in November, be-
fore falling slightly to $1,417.4 million at end-December. 
Overall, the average monthly external reserve balance 
strengthened by $88.1 million (9.2%) to $1,049.9 million. 
An analysis of the underlying foreign currency trans-
actions, showed that the Bank’s net purchase expanded 
to $487.6 million, from a mere $61.0 million in 2016. 
Underpinning this outturn was a $1,018.0 million ex-
pansion in total purchases, which surpassed the $591.4 
million increase in total sales. Specifi cally, the receipt of 
external bond proceeds contributed to a sharp increase in 
the Bank’s net purchase from the Government to $724.1 
million, from $70.0 million last year. In a slight offset, 
the Bank’s net sale to public corporations–primarily for 
fuel imports–rose by $19.1 million (6.6%) to $306.6 
million, refl ecting the rise in global oil prices. Further, the 
net purchase from commercial banks decreased consid-
erably to $70.1 million, from $278.6 million in the prior 
year, when re-insurance and arrears payments related to 
the re-start of a major resort project were received. 
At end-December, the stock of external reserves stood 
at an estimated 23.0 weeks of current year’s total mer-
chandise imports, relative to 16.5 weeks a year earlier. 
After accounting for the statutory requirement to main-
tain reserves equivalent to 50% of the Bank’s demand 
liabilities, “useable” reserves grew by $428.2 million to 
$672.0 million.

BANKING SECTOR PERFORMANCE

Credit Quality
Banks’ credit quality indicators improved signifi cantly 
during the review year, refl ecting mainly the sale of a 
portion of one institution’s non-performing commercial 
loan portfolio to the Government-owned special purpose 
vehicle (SPV), Bahamas Resolve Corporation, as well as 
ongoing debt restructuring activities and loan write-offs. 
Consequently, total private sector loan arrears contracted 
by $125.8 million (12.5%) to $884.8 million–the lowest 
level since 2008–compared to last year’s $209.0 million 
(17.1%) reduction. In addition, the ratio of arrears to total 
private sector loans narrowed by 1.7 percentage points to 
15.4%, albeit lower than the prior year’s 3.3 percentage 
point contraction. 
The reduction in total delinquencies was largely concen-
trated in the non-performing segment (NPLs)–arrears 
in excess of 90 days and on which banks have stopped 
accruing interest–which fell by $161.6 million (22.2%) 
to $567.5 million, although below the $177.5 million 
(19.6%) decrease recorded in the prior year. Similarly, 

the ratio of NPLs to total private sector loans contracted 
by 2.4 percentage points to 9.9%. In contrast, the short-
term (31-90 day) component expanded by $35.8 million 
(12.7%) to $317.4 million, reversing last year’s fall of 
$31.5 million (10.1%), while the attendant ratio fi rmed by 
77 basis points to 5.5% of total private sector loans. 
An analysis by loan type, showed that the improvement 
in credit quality was dominated by the commercial com-
ponent, which fell sharply by $139.6 million (60.2%) to 
$92.4 million, vis-à-vis a $7.1 million (3.2%) increase 
last year, with the relevant ratio declining by 14.9 per-
centage points to 12.7%. Conversely, mortgage arrears 
grew by $13.1 million (2.5%) to $534.1 million, com-
pared to a sharp asset-sale related contraction of $176.2 
million (25.3%) a year earlier, while the associated loan 
ratio fi rmed by 59 basis points to 20.0%. In addition, con-
sumer arrears edged-up by $0.8 million (0.3%) to $258.3 
million, a turnaround from the $40.0 million (13.4%) re-
duction last year–this represented a 25 basis point increase 
in the relevant ratio to 11.0% of total private sector loans.



41
Central Bank of The Bahamas

2017 Annual Report

Capital Adequacy and Provisions
Banks maintained their conservative posture over the 
review period, as evidenced by their high capital adequa-
cy ratios, while the level of loan loss provisioning in the 
system decreased modestly, in line with the improvement 
in loan arrears. At end-December, the ratio of capital 
to total risk weighted assets stood at 32.5%, a gain of 
3.9 percentage points over the prior year’s level (See: 
Table 13); remaining signifi cantly above the prudentially 
prescribed target and trigger ratios of 17.0% and 14.0%, 

respectively. However, banks reduced their provisions for 
bad debts, by $91.2 million (17.7%) to $423.6 million, 
extending 2016’s contraction of $15.6 million (2.9%). As 
a result, the ratio of provisions to total loans decreased by 
1.2 percentage points to 6.9%, while the ratio of pro-
visions to arrears declined by 3.1 percentage points, to 
47.9%. In contrast, given the reduction in 
loan delinquencies, the ratio of provisions 
to NPLs fi rmed by 4.0 percentage points 
to 74.7%. Banks also wrote-off a total of 
$128.3 million in delinquent loans, while 
recoveries totalled $27.1 million.

Bank Profi tability
Refl ecting mainly higher operating costs 
and increased provisions for bad debts, 
domestic banks’ profi tability deteriorated 
during the twelve months to September 
2017–the latest data available. Total net 
income fell by $21.7 million (10.2%) to 
$189.7 million, vis-à-vis an increase of 
$75.9 million (56.1%) during the corre-
sponding period of 2016. Underlying this 
performance, the net interest margin fell 
by 1.5% ($8.4 million) to $533.3 million, 
as the 3.1% ($19.6 million) contraction 

in interest income to $603.0 million, overshadowed 
the 13.8% ($11.2 million) falloff in interest expense to 
$69.6 million. In a slight offset, earnings from commis-
sion & foreign exchange fi rmed by 11.2% ($2.8 million) 
to $27.9 million; however, the gross earnings margin fell 
by 1.0% ($5.6 million) to $561.3 million, compared to a 
gain of 0.9% ($5.0 million) in the previous year. 
Total operating costs rose by 1.5% ($5.2 million) to 
$363.1 million, as non-staff outlays–including profes-
sional services, Government fees and maintenance–
increased by 6.7% ($11.2 million). These outpaced 
declines in both staffi ng and occupancy costs, of 3.6% 
($5.9 million) and 0.5% ($0.1 million), respectively. 
As a result, the net earnings margin contracted by 5.2% 
($10.8 million) to $198.2 million, vis-à-vis a 1.4% 
($2.8 million) growth in 2016. Banks also recorded a 
net loss on their “non-core” operations of $8.5 million, 
in contrast to a profi t of $2.4 million in the prior year. 
This outturn refl ected a 9.8% ($11.2 million) expan-
sion in bad debt provisioning and a 4.3% ($0.6 million) 
increase in depreciation costs, which eclipsed the 0.8% 
($1.0 million) rise in other fee-based income. 
The earnings reduction also impacted the relevant profi ta-
bility indicators, as the interest margin ratio narrowed by 
13 basis points to 5.26%, while the commission & forex 
income ratio rose by 3 basis points, to 0.28%, resulting in 
the gross earning margin ratio falling by 10 basis points 
to 5.54%. In addition, the net earnings margin declined 
by 12 basis points to 1.95%, due in part to a 2 basis point 
increase in the operational cost ratio to 3.58%. After ac-
counting for “non-core” operations, the net income ratio 
decreased by 23 basis points to 1.87%.

Table 13: Commercial Banks' Financial Soundness Indicators

  2015 2016 2017
   
Capital Adequacy   
 Regulatory capital/risk weighted assets  33.3   28.6   32.5 
 Regulatory Tier 1 capital/risk weighted assets  31.6   27.0   29.0 
   
Asset Quality   
 NPLs/private sector loans  15.1   12.3   9.9 
 NPLs to capital  34.2   28.1   21.0 
   
Earnings & Profi tability*   
 Return on assets  1.9   2.0   1.9 
 Return on equity  7.0   7.9   7.0 
   
Liquidity   
 Liquid assets to total domestic assets  24.1   25.9   29.0 

   
SOURCE:  Central Bank of The Bahamas    
*Ytd - September 2017   
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CAPITAL MARKET DEVELOPMENTS
Amid the generally improving economic conditions, 
activity on the Bahamas International Securities Exchange 
(BISX) was relatively brisk over the review year. 
Specifi cally, refl ecting broad-based share price gains, the 
BISX All Share Index–a market capitalization weighted 
index–increased by 6.5% to 2,063.57 points, after a similar 
6.3% gain recorded in the previous year. In addition, the 
market capitalization of listed fi rms expanded by 12.3% to 
$4.4 billion, which exceeded the prior year’s 10.8% expan-
sion. Further, the volume of shares traded on the exchange 
decreased by 7.6% to 5.1 million; although the correspond-
ing value fi rmed by 11.3% to $44.6 million. 
At end-December 2017, the number of publicly traded 
securities on BISX stood at 52, in line with the previous 
year’s level, and comprised 20 common shares, 13 prefer-
ence shares and 19 debt tranches.

INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND PAYMENTS
Preliminary data on the external account for 2017, 
showed that the current account defi cit deteriorated by 
an estimated $751.0 million (64.8%) to $1,909.3 million, 
as increased capital-related imports led to a widening in 
the merchandise trade defi cit, while the services account 
surplus narrowed. In contrast, the capital and fi nancial 
account surplus more than doubled from $461.3 million 
to $1,602.3 million, refl ecting the Government’s external 
borrowing activities, along with an 
increase in loan-based fi nancing for 
private foreign investments. 
The estimated merchandise trade defi cit 
widened by $253.9 million (11.8%) 
to $2,404.1 million. This refl ected 
an increase in net non-oil imports by 
$193.8 million (8.8%) to $2,391.8 
million, related in part to capital equip-
ment purchases for foreign investment 
projects and hurricane repair work. In 
addition, the rise in international oil 
prices elevated fuel payments by $136.7 
million (31.5%) to $570.3 million. In 
terms of the components, the largest 
per barrel cost gains were registered 
for aviation gas (by 51.4% to $140.86). 
More modest per barrel increases were 
recorded for jet fuel (by 16.7% to 
$67.39), propane (by 15.2% to $40.88), 
motor gas (by 14.9% to $76.72) and gas 
oil (by 12.3% to $65.41). 
The surplus on the services account 
contracted by an estimated $119.6 

million (10.7%) to $996.3 million. As the tourism sector 
faced headwinds and with residents spending more 
abroad on overseas trips, net travel receipts declined 
by $54.8 million (2.4%) to $2,206.5 million. Also net 
infl ows from offshore companies’ local expenses fell by 
$40.2 million (23.8%) to $128.6 million. In addition, net 
outfl ows for “miscellaneous” services and transportation, 
expanded by $117.4 million (22.8%) to $632.8 million 
and by $87.0 million (32.5%) to $354.7 million, respec-
tively. In addition, net external payments for Government 
services decreased sharply by $102.9 million (49.3%) 
to $105.8 million, as disbursements for resident 
Government operations declined. Further, net outfl ows 
for insurance services fell by $42.6 million (27.4%) to 
$112.6 million, while net disbursements for construction 
services decreased by $25.5 million (17.7%) to $118.7 
million and for royalty & license fees, by $8.7 million 
(38.0%) to $14.2 million. 
The estimated defi cit on the income account decreased by 
$75.6 million (17.2%) to $364.3 million, mainly attrib-
uted to an 18.8% decline in investment-related outfl ows 
to $325.6 million. Underlying these developments, net 
private sector interest and dividend payments contracted 
by 24.0% to $250.8 million, as non-banks’ net outfl ows 
declined by $35.5 million (13.4%) to $229.3 million and 
commercial banks’ net profi t remittances fell by over 
two-thirds (67.1%) to $21.5 million. Similarly, net repa-
triation of employee earnings declined marginally by $0.1 

Table 14: Balance of Payments Summary (B$ Millions)

 2015p 2016p 2017p

I. CURRENT ACCOUNT (1,610.2) (1,158.3) (1,909.3)
 i)  Merchandise Trade (net) (2,433.5) (2,150.2) (2,404.1)
    Exports 520.5  481.4  558.0 
    Imports 2,954.0  2,631.6  2,962.1 
    of which: Oil 480.4  433.6  570.3 
 ii)  Services (net) 1,280.5  1,115.9  996.3 
   Travel 2,264.7  2,261.3  2,206.5 
   Other (984.2) (1,145.4) (1,210.2)
   
 iii)  Income (net) (362.9) (439.9) (364.3)
 iv)  Current Transfers (net) (94.3) 316.0  (137.1)
   
II.  CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL ACCOUNT 336.7  461.3  1,602.3 
 i)  Capital Account (Transfers) (20.2) (13.8) (26.1)
 ii)  Financial Account 356.9  475.1  1,628.4 
    of which: Direct Investment 69.8  73.7  73.6 

III. NET ERRORS AND OMISSIONS 1,297.7  789.0  820.6 

IV. CHANGES IN EXTERNAL RESERVES1 (24.3) (92.0) (513.4)

SOURCE:  Central Bank of The Bahamas    
1( )  = increase.   
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million (0.4%) to $38.7 million. In contrast, net outfl ows 
for offi cial transactions grew by $3.8 million (5.4%) to 
$74.8 million, associated with a $2.1 million (13.3%) rise 
in the Central Bank’s net investment income, alongside a 
$6.0 million (6.9%) increase in Government transaction 
outfl ows to $93.0 million.
Current transfers were reversed to a $137.1 million net 
outfl ow, from a $316.0 million net receipt in the previous 
year, when signifi cant re-insurance infl ows from claims 
related to Hurricane Matthew were received. Refl ecting 
this outturn, non-income related transfer infl ows were 
normalized to $54.4 million, from $352.6 million in 
2016. In addition, workers’ remittances more than 
doubled to $305.5 million, from $155.0 million. Further, 
Government’s net receipts decreased by $4.4 million 
(3.7%) to $114.0 million. 
The signifi cant growth in the surplus on the capital and 
fi nancial account was mainly associated with an almost 
three-fold ($1,148.4 million) expansion in other “miscel-
laneous” investment infl ows to $1,571.5 million, as the 
marked increase in Government borrowing led to a signif-
icant rise in net public sector receipts, to $823.2 million 
from $218.9 million in 2016. Similarly, private sector 
net non-equity infl ows rose by $211.4 million (41.4%) to 
$721.9 million. Further, domestic banks’ net short-term 
transactions reversed from a net outfl ow of $306.3 mil-
lion in the prior period, to a modest net receipt of $26.4 
million in 2017. In contrast, net private direct investment 
receipts almost stabilized at $73.6 million. Similarly, 
residents’ net portfolio outfl ows under the Bahamian 
Depository Receipt (BDR) programme, narrowed by $5.0 
million to $16.7 million. 
After making adjustments for net errors and omissions, 
the overall balance–which tracks the change in the Central 
Bank’s external reserves–recorded a higher surplus of 
$513.4 million, compared to $92.0 million in 2016.

DOMESTIC ECONOMIC OUTLOOK 
FOR 2018

The modest upward trajectory in the domestic economy, 
is expected to be maintained during 2018, as the growth 
in tourism sector output should be fuelled by the ongo-
ing strengthening in several key source markets, and the 
signifi cant increase in room capacity, as the Baha Mar 
resort becomes fully operational. Further, construction 
output is anticipated to be undergirded by smaller-scale 
foreign investment developments in the capital and the 
Family Islands, as well as Government-supported domes-
tic projects. Against this backdrop, employment condi-
tions should continue to improve relative to prior years. 

Domestic infl ationary pressures are expected to remain 
well contained over the review period, as global crude oil 
prices stabilise, following supply-restricted gains in the 
prior period. 
Efforts to improve the fi scal defi cit and the related debt 
indicators, will continue to depend heavily on the success 
of Government’s measures to enhance revenue admin-
istration and curtail expenditure growth. In addition, the 
proposed introduction of fi scal responsibility legislation, 
should frame medium-term targets and policies for more 
entrenched support to this process. 
Liquidity in the banking system is anticipated to remain 
buoyant over the near-term, as entities maintain their 
cautious lending posture, and households continue to de-
leverage. Moreover, the on-going reduction in NPLs from 
their elevated levels is expected to be sustained, due in 
part to banks’ enhanced restructuring and recovery efforts, 
and further sales of non-performing assets. In this context, 
capital levels, on average, are projected to remain healthy, 
thereby minimizing any threat to fi nancial stability. 
The outlook for external reserves remains positive, al-
though some reduction in balances from the record levels 
is expected during the year, amid the seasonal increase in 
demand for foreign currency during the holiday period. 
Nevertheless, reserve levels are expected to stay in line 
with international benchmarks. 
Despite these positive economic signs, downside risks 
to the forecasts remain, stemming mainly from potential 
external shocks, such as increased protectionist trade 
policies among major economies. In addition, although 
the environment has somewhat stabilised, threats from 
more tenuous correspondent banking relationships remain 
present for domestic banks. Risk could also relate to the 
speed at which capacity restoration in the Grand Bahama 
tourism sector is impeded. Potential threats of  disruptions 
from major hurricanes also persist for The Bahamas. 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 2 Bayside Executive Park, West Bay Street & Blake Road, P.O. Box N-3910, Nassau, 
Bahamas T: + 1 242 302 5300, F: + 1 242 302 5350, www.pwc.com/bs, E-mail: pwcbs@bs.pwc.com 

Independent auditors’ report 

To the Board of Directors of The Central Bank of The Bahamas 

Our opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
The Central Bank of The Bahamas as at December 31, 2017, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
Central Bank of The Bahamas Act, 2000, as amended.  

What we have audited 
The Central Bank of The Bahamas financial statements comprise: 

the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017;
the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the statement of changes in equity and reserves for the year then ended;
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  

Independence 
We are independent of The Central Bank of The Bahamas in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Other information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
presented in The Central Bank of the Bahamas’ complete Annual Report 2017 (but does not include the 
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon).  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard. 
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Central Bank of The Bahamas Act, 
2000, as amended, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing The Central Bank of The 
Bahamas’ ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
The Central Bank of The Bahamas or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Central Bank of The Bahamas’ 
financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of The Central Bank of The Bahamas’ internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fi nancial statements 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fi nancial statements 

April 13, 2018



52

Items that will not be reclassified to net income

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fi nancial statements 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fi nancial statements 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fi nancial statements 
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i) Compliance with IFRS 

ii) Historical cost convention 
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iii) New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Bank 

iv) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Bank 

IFRS 9 Financial instruments 

Financial Instruments 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement
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iv) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Bank 
(continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Revenue Construction
Contracts

IFRS 16 Leases 

Leases”
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i) Functional and presentation currency 

ii) Transactions and balances 
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i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

ii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

iii) Held-to-maturity financial assets 
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iii) Held-to-maturity financial assets (continued) 

iv) Loans and receivables 
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i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

ii) Other financial liabilities at amortised cost 
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The Bank is the lessee 

Defined Benefit Plan 
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Defined Benefit Plan (continued) 

Defined Contribution Plan 

Health insurance subsidy for retirees 
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Defined Benefit Plan for Governors and Deputy Governors 

Financial instruments - 

Risk management - 
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Concentration of assets and liabilities – 

Related party transactions – 
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Background
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Quota, Subscriptions and Reserve Tranche
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Quota, Subscriptions and Reserve Tranche (Continued)

SDR Holdings and SDR Allocation 
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SDR Holdings and SDR Allocation (Continued) 

SDR Holdings 

SDR Allocation 
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Interest on foreign investments 

Interest on loans 

Interest on domestic investments 

Interest expense on IMF allocation

Other income 
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Staff costs 

General and administrative 
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Geographic Region 

Industry

Geographic Region 

Industry

Geographic Region 

Industry

Geographic Region 

Industry
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Categories of Financial Instruments (Continued) 
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Categories of Financial Instruments (continued) 

Fair value of financial instruments 

276,830,251

898,560,676
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Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

Fair value hierarchy and measurements 

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3
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Fair value hierarchy and measurements (continued) 
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Fair value hierarchy and measurements (continued) 

Level 3 

276,830,251 276,830,251
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Fair value hierarchy and measurements (continued) 
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Fair value hierarchy and measurements (continued) 
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